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i Decision and Order

 

Introduction

1. This case concerns two complaint referrals brought to us by the Competition

Commission against Pioneer Foods (Pty) Ltd, known as the Western Cape complaint

and the National complaint, in which Pioneer's bread baking divisions, Sasko and Duens,

are alleged to have formed part of bread manufacturers’ cartels that fixed prices and

divided markets. The Commission alleges that Pioneer Foods had contravened sections

| 4(1)(b)(1) and (ii) of the Act.

History of the case

2. In December 2006 the Commission received information of an alleged bread cartel

operating in the Western Cape. Following a preliminary investigation the Commission

initiated a complaint against Premier Foods (whose bread brand is Blue Ribbon), Tiger
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Brands (whose bread brand is Albany) and Pioneer Foods (whose bread brands are

Sasko and Duens), all of whom allegedly had been involved in a bread cartel, This will

be referred to as the Western Cape complaint.

3. During the Commission's investigation into the Western Cape complaint Premier Foods

applied for leniency indicating to the Commissionits willingness to fully co-operate with

the Commission on its role in the bread cartel. It disclosed to the Commission that

Premier Foods (‘Premier’ or ‘Blue Ribbon’), Tiger Brands (‘Tiger’ or ‘Albany’) and Pioneer

Foods (‘Pioneer’ or ‘Sasko’) had been operating a bread cartel in the Western Cape by

fixing selling prices and othertrading conditions.

4. Premier also revealed that a bread cartel had operated in other parts of the country and

that they had also entered into agreements which involved the division of markets by

allocating territories. Based onthis information the Commission proceeded to initiate a

second investigation into the allegation that a bread cartel operated in other parts of the

country. This will be referred to as the national complaint.

5. On 14" February 2007 the Competition Commission referred the Western Cape

complaint against Tiger Food Brands Ltd t/a Albany Bakeries and Pioneer Foods (Pty)

Ltd t/a Sasko and Duens Bakeries to the Tribunal. The national complaint against

Pioneer Foods (Pty) Ltd and Foodcorp (Pty) Ltd was referred to the Tribunal on 6" May

2008.

6. After filing its answering affidavit in the Western Cape complaint referral Tiger

approached the Commission with a view to negotiate a consent order agreement. In

doing soit not only provided the Commission with evidence on the bread cartel but also

conductedits own internal investigation into the allegations, which it found to be true. On

28" November 2007 the Tribunal imposeda fine of R 98 874 869.90 on Tiger Brandsfor

its role in the bread cartel.’ Pioneer however, at that stage, denied thatit was involved in

a Western Cape carte! and therefore remained as the only respondent in the Western

Capereferral.

7. Foodcorp, cited as second respondentin the national complaint, subsequentto filing its

 

answering affidavit also proceeded to enter into a consent order agreement with the

Commission. On 6" January 2009 the Tribunal confirmed the consent order between the

Commission and Foodcorp and imposed a fine of R45 406 359, 82 on Foodcorp.?

‘This represents 5.7% ofits turnover from baking for the financial year 2006.

* This represents 6.7%ofits turnover for baking operationsforthe financial year 2006.



 

Pioneer also denied its involvement in this complaint and thus remained as the only

respondentin the national complaint.

8. On 6" January 2009 the Tribunal, on application by the Commission, consolidated the

two complaints for purposes of hearing. The application was not opposed by Pioneer.

 

9, The Tribunal, on 3% April 2009, also heard two interlocutory applications brought by

Pioneer, one for further and better discovery and the otherfor further particulars fortrial.

The Tribunal dismissed the application for further and better discovery after it found that

the Commission was entitled to claim litigation privilege in Tribunal proceedings and that

 

the statements by Premier, made in the Western Cape referral in the course of its

leniency application,fell within that privilege. Pioneer also requestedfurtherparticulars in

respect of each of the meetings and phone calls mentioned in both referrals, which was

also denied. The Tribunal held that Pioneer's demandsfor greater particularity would be

met when the witness statements werefiled prior to the commencementof the hearing.

10. The hearing commenced on 15" June 2009 and was argued before the Tribunal on 9

September 2009. Several witness statements werefiled by the Competition Commission.

Howeveronly the following witnesses werecalled to present oral evidence:°

11. In the Western Cape complaint:

| 1) Terrence Lavery, Regional Director of the Eastern and Western Cape at Premier

Foods

2) David Michael Donovan, Cape Regional Sales Manager at Premier

3) Graham Ford, Regional Operations Manager: Informal Trade at Premier

12. in the National complaint:

4) Willem van der Linde, Customer Service Managerforinland regions at Premier

2) Elmarie, Pieterse, manager of Premier's Blue Ribbon bakery at Potchefstroom in

North West.

 

13. Pioneer Foodsfiled four witness statements but elected to call only:*

> Witness statements were also deposed to by: Mr William Francis and Mr McCabe, both of Tiger Foods.

* The remaining witness that deposed to statements butdid not give evidencein chief were: Hendrik Wilhelm

Hollenbach and Jacob Patience



1) Andries Charl Goosen, General Manager of Sasko Bakeries at Pioneer Foods

2) Prof Johan Willemse, Agricultural Economist, expert witness for Pioneer

industry Background

14.

45,
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17.

The bread industry was extensively regulated until 1991. Through legislation a quota

system wasestablished, product specifications such as weight, height and width perloaf

were prescribed, prices were set and volumes anddistribution areas for each producer

determined. There were approximately 370 bakeries country wide which included the

four largest national bakeries and smaller independent brands.

In this regulated context regular meetings took place between bread producers largely,

although not exclusively, under the auspices of the Chamber of Baking, to whom ail of

the bakers belonged. Various issues were discussed including producers encroaching on

each other's allocated areas and producers exceeding their volumes and the

compensation that those violating the agreements were obliged to pay. Production

issues such as the supply and quality of ingredients as well as labour issues were also

discussed. A culture of co-operation and information sharing on prices, volume and

market allocation was thus entrenchedin the industry over many decades.

After deregulation the interaction between bread producers continued with regard to

common issues such as labour and missing bread crates. The Chamberalso continued

as a legitimate forum for sharing information on the industry where issues such as

deliveries of wheat, quality of wheat, unscrupulous bakers and security concerns were

discussed freely and legitimately. However, the admissions made by the leniency

applicants and by those whoentered into consent orders with the Commission revealed

that those parties had also continued, sometimes through auspices of the Chamberof

Baking as well as through other less formal forums, to engage in cooperative interactions

in contravention of the Competition Act.

There are four primary bakeries that between them enjoy a market share of between 50-

60% of the domestic bread market in South Africa:

1) Blue Ribbon Bakeries owned by Premier Foods Ltd

2) Albany Bakeries owned by Tiger Consumer Brands Lid



  

18.

19.

20.

21.

3) Sasko and Duens® Bakeries owned by Pioneer Foods (Pty) Ltd

4) Sunbake Bakeries owned by Foodcorp (Pty) Ltd

The four primary plant bakeries are all vertically integrated, that is they mill their own

wheat and use the flour in their respective bakeries to produce bread. Wheatflouris the

main ingredient in bread and represents approximately 41% of the cost perloaf of bread.

The bakeries’ bread recipes are in essence similar since they contain the same

ingredients.© The costs of operating a plant bakery are also comparable, as are the

costs of distribution which is mainly driven by fuel prices. The bakeries’ input costs —

essentially comprising wheatflour, fuel and labour - are therefore similar and are subject

to the sameprice fluctuations. Pioneer avers that bread is a very low margin business,

operating at a net profit of between 2 - 4%.

The remainder of the market is served by smaller independent bakeries of which, avers

Pioneer, there are approximately 4000 including stand alone, in-store and franchise

bakeries.

Customers are divided into the large retail groups’, such as Shoprite/Checkers, Pick 'n

Pay and Spar, the general trade such as spaza shops, cafes and smaller retailers and

the “resellers”, the independentdistributors and agents briefly referred to above.

Although bread can be transported overlarge distances the primary plant bakeries each

divide the country into different geographical sub-regions in which breadis distributed. In

the case of Pioneer Foods the regions are divided as follows:®

Gauteng

 

> Duens was Bokomo’s bakery division in the Western Cape before it merged with Saska in 1997. Sasko

decided to keep the Duens brand name becauseit is a strong brand in the Western Cape.

5 pioneer has 32 different kinds of bread products, for instance standard bread, English pan loaf, speciality

loaves and sandwich loaves, etc.

’ The three large retailers purchase approximately 25 ~ 30% ofall plant bakeries’ production and are the

largest single bread buyers in South Africa.

® According to Pioneer, Tiger and Premier use the same geographical sub-regionsin their business models.
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23.

Central (KZN,Free State,
Northern Cape)

Western Cape

Limpopo

and Mpumalanga

Eastern Cape

 

The plant bakeries set their prices nationally. Pioneer refers to its national price as the

PROOlist price’ and sells its bread to distributors and retailers at a discount or rebate off

the list price. The list price is therefore not the actual price paid by the customer. Once

the PROOlist price is determined Pioneer, in common with the practice employed byits

competitors will inform its various retail customers of the change in price. Pioneer's

national sales managers, who are responsible for the actual bread prices for the national

key accounts, being the large supermarket chains, forecourts and convenience

franchises meet with the respective buyers of these important retailers in order to

communicate the price adjustment and, critically, to negotiate discounts before the nett

price is loaded on to the large retailers’ systems. Increases to the general trade

customers and distributors will be communicated per letter usually delivered together

with the bread.

Pioneer's bakery managers are responsible for determining the actual bread price for

smailer customers, local supermarkets, convenience stores and distributors and will take

regional competition into consideration when determining the bread price. Pioneer

allows its bakery managers to discountoff the list price by up to 15%. Beyond that they

need approval of one of the two national sales managers, Hendrik Hollenbach for the

inland region and Gerhard Louwrens for the coastal regions. If a discount exceeding

5 pioneer’s market share in Limpopois 70%.

*° bioneer uses a bread costing system thatis driven by inputcosts.



30% was contemplated then the authority of Mr. Charl Goosen, the General Manager of

Pioneer's baking division, Sasko Bakeries, was required.

24. Sasko sells approximately 10% ofits total bread sales to independent bread distributors,

also referred to as agents.’ Sasko sells bread to the agents either on cashorcredit at a

discount off the PROO list price. The agents then re-sell to the informal market. The

discount is determined by the value of the purchaser to Sasko taking into accountfactors

such as location, daily sales volumes and transport. Customers may also earn a rebate

on their purchases overa period.

Relevant legislation

25. We examine the Commission’s evidencein detail later but it behoves us to set out at this

! stage the relevant provisions of the Act and the guidelines provided to us by our courts

and courts in other jurisdictions to matters of this nature.

26. 1. Section 4(1)(b) of the Competition Act provides —

4, Restrictive horizontal! practices prohibited

(1) An agreement between, or concertedpractice by, firms, or a decision by

an association of firms, is prohibited if it is between parties in a horizontal

relationship andif -

(b) it involves any of the following restrictive horizontal practices :

(i) directly or indirectly fixing a purchase or selling price or any

other trading condition;

(ii) dividing markets by allocating customers, suppliers,

territories, or specific types of goods or services”

 

*t Agents are something of an historical anomaly. During the political unrest in 1970 — 1980 Pioneerdelivery

trucks could not enter townships.To circumventthis problem, agents would collect bread from bakeries and

distribute the bread to customersin the townships.



26.2. Section 1(1)(ii) of the Act provides that ‘agreement’ when usedin relation to a

prohibited practice, includes “a contract, arrangement or understanding, whether or

not legally enforceable.”

26.3. ‘Concerted practice’ is defined in sec 1(1)(vi) as “co-operative, or co-ordinated

conduct betweenfirms, achieved through director indirect contact, that replaces their

independentaction, but which does not amount to an agreement.”

27.1n South Africa, price fixing agreements and agreements to divide markets between

competitors are considered to be the most egregious offences under the Competition

Act. It is for this reason that the South African legisiature has sought to create a per se

offence under section 4(1)(b) and has recently introduced an amendment to the

Competition Act which intends to create criminalliability for persons participating in cartel

| activity.”

28. In American Natural Soda Ash Corp v Competition Commission,** the Supreme Court of

Appeal set out the import of section 4(1)(b):

 

“tis clear from its juxtaposition with s 4(1)(a) that s 4(1)(b) is aimed at

imposing a ‘per se’ prohibition: one, in other words, in which the efficiency

defence expressly contemplated by sub-para (a) cannot be raised. The

reason for the blunt terms of sub-para (b) is plain. Price-fixing is inimical to

economic competition, and has no place in a sound economy. Adopting the

language of United States anti-trust law, price-fixing is anti-competitive per se.

All countries with laws protecting economic competition prohibit the practice

without more. The fact that price-fixing has occurred is by itself sufficient to

brandit incapable of redemption.’

29. Section 4(1)(b), as opposed to section 4(1)(a) defines the prohibited practices by

reference to whether or not an agreement contains one or more features set out in the

sub-sections of 4(1)(b) rather than by reference to their effect in a relevant market.

Section 4(1)(b) constitutes an offence for which no justification grounds are admissible.

Once the Tribunal has found that an agreement or concerted practice between or among

competitors exists as contemplated in section 4(1)(b) that is the end of the matter. There

is no further enquiry as to the effect of the conduct on the market or whether it was

»see provisions of section 73A of the Competition AmendmentAct which has been signed into law but not

yet promulgated.

* [2005] 1 CPLR 1(SCA}
* bar 37
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justified or not. This approachis confirmed by the Competition Appeal Court and by the

Supreme Court of Appeal-*

“The Tribunal has found that once the conduct complained of is foundto fall

within the scope ofthe prohibition that is the end of the enquiry. There is no

potential for a further enquiry as to whether the conductis justified (an enquiry

of the kind that is envisaged by s 4(1)(a)), and evidence to that end is not

relevant and thus inadmissible. It is this finding that the Competition Appeal

Court upheld; andit is clearly correct.”

In this case we are not concerned with the admissibility of evidence as was at issue in

the ANSAC case. Nor are we concerned with any Justification grounds that Pioneer may

wish to advance - for there are none. All we are required to consider is whether the

alleged conduct of Pioneer’s employeesfalls within the prohibition provided in section

4(1)(b)(i) and (ii). The Supreme Court madeit abundantly clearthat it is for the Tribunal

“to consider, in the manner and in accordance with such procedure as it may decide, to

what extent evidence may be admissible to establish whether the Ansac agreementfalls
» 16

within the prohibition containedin s 4(1)(b)’.

The attitude in other jurisdictions towards hard core cartels or conduct of the type

contemplated in 4(1)(b)(i) and (ii) has been one of utmost repugnance. Cartels are

viewed as the most abhorrent anti-trust practices and have been described as a cancer

to competition and harmful to consumers and economic development-

“Fighting cartels is one of the most important areas of. activity of any

competition authority .....Of all restrictions of competition, cartels contradict

mostradically the principle of a market economy based on competition.”

While fighting cartels is viewed as one of the most important areas of activity for

competition agencies globally, the ability of agencies to effectively do so is often

hampered bythedifficulties pertaining to the gathering of direct evidence. This is not

surprising given the nature of cartel activity. Competitors engaging in co-ordination

rather than competition tend to conduct themselves in secretive and stealthy ways;

meeting behind closed doors, ensuring that there is no paper trail, agreeing on signals

*5 American Soda Ash Corporation and Another v Competition Commission and Others [2005] 1 CPLR 1 (SCA)at

par 37

*° par 60 ‘
*7 extract from Mario Monti’s opening speech at the 3™ Nordic Competition Policy Conference in Stockholm,

September 2000 “Fighting Cartels — why and how?” Konkurrensverket, 2000.



which they can send to each other and at times cloaking their activities in the guise of

normal commercial practices thereby seeking to mislead and divert anti-trust agencies. ®

33. This is why agencies globally have found creative ways by which to secure evidence of

cartel activity, the Competition Commission’s leniency programme being a casein point.

This is also why legislatures have sought to create per se offences such as those in

section 4(1()(b) and courts have demonstrated their intolerance in the standard of review

applied by them to offences of this nature. 19

34. The evidence that a court will have regard to in order to determine whether or not an

agreement or understanding between competitors constitutes a restrictive horizontal

practice will depend on the nature of the case and the mannerin which parties have

structured their arrangements. At times cartel arrangements are structured in seemingly

acceptable commercial practice, designed specifically to pass muster underprima facie

 

anti-trust scrutiny.”? At other times cartel members will seek to disguise their conduct by

ensuring that the semblanceof price leadershipis maintained.”' At times the conspiracy

is maintained on the telephone,at times in meetings, at times by exchangesofprice

information. Moreover the nature of a relationship of co-ordination between entities

which would otherwise be competitors is not an easy one and would be marked by

occasional cheating and absences from meetings, and a court would be careful, without

further evidence, to rely solely upon such instances as proof that no such arrangementis

in place. Furthermoreto find that an agreementof co-ordination exists does not require

evidence of daily co-ordination or attendances at each and every meeting.

35. For example the definition of an agreementin Article 81(1) of the EC Competition Law

that prohibits agreements, decisions and concerted practices thatfix prices or any other

trading conditions has been given a wide meaning by the Commission and Courts. The

 

Commission said in the British Sugar case” that an agreement does not have to be

made formally or in writing, and no expressed sanction or enforcement measures need

be involved, it is enough that the undertakings in question should have expressed their

joint intention to conduct themselves in the market in a specific way. The Court of First

Instance, In the Adalat case,” stated that it was not important what form a cartel

* See the discussion of the US per se approach to horizontal restrictive practices in Nutshell pages 200ff and

the approachin the EU in Fox, EM in “The Competition Law of the European Union” 2009 West.

supra

> See for example Toys R Us v Federal Trade Commission, decided August 1, 2002in the United States Courtof

Appeals for the Seventh Circuit, Case No 98 - 4107.

>t See for example the evidence of Lavery and Van derLindein this case.

2 See Commission Decision of 22 March 1999, 1999/210/E(British Sugar) (1999) OJ L 76/1, at par 22.
*? 1996 ECR 11-381
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36.

37.

agreement took on, i.e. whether the agreement was formal, informal or a gentleman's

agreement, so long as there was “... the existence of a concurrence ofwills between at

least two parties, the form in which it manifested being unimportant so long as it

constitutes the faithful expression of the parties’ intention.”
 

The European Competition Commission has also stated that a party is guilty of

participating in a cartel regard/ess of whetherthat participant actively participated in the

day-to-day implementation of the agreement, a concept which is known as the concept

of “a single overall agreement”. In the PVC decision™ the European Commission found

that all fifteen firms in the cartel were party to the agreement even though some had not

attended every meeting or been involved in every decision made. Nor did the fact that

some members intended to deviate from the cartel exclude them from the agreement.
 

Their participation in the overall agreement was sufficient to establish their guilt. This

position was upheld by the Court of First Instance.° The CFI in Trefileurope v

Commission also held that the fact that an undertaking does not abide by the outcome of

meetings which have a manifestly anti-competitive purpose does not relieve it of full

responsibility for its participation in the cartel, if it has not publicly distanced itself from

what was agreed in the meetings.” in Thuysen Stee! v Commission the CFI found that

attendance of meetings that involved anti-competitive activities was enough to establish

participation in the cartel, in the absence of proofto the contrary.””

Weturn now to consider the conduct of Pioneer's employees in light of the guidelines

provided by courts in otherjurisdictions and our own Supreme Court.

Western Cape complaint

38. Pioneer Foods concededthat it has, in respect of the Western Cape complaint, acted in

contravention of sec 4(1)(b) of the Act. This concession only came at the end of the

hearings during legal argument. It is accordingly within our discretion to impose an

administrative penalty on Pioneer andthis, following our standard practice in dealing with

this, the most egregious of antitrust offences, is precisely what we intend doing.

However, there do remain important factual disputes regarding the nature, extent and

duration of the offences committed by Pioneer. In essence, Pioneer admits that it co-

*4S5e@ Commission decision of 27 July 1994 (94/599/EC} PVC (1994) OJL 239/14.
5 1VM v Commission Voined cases T-305/94) [1999] ECRII-934 (known as PVCIl) at par 745.
*® case T- 141/89[199S]ECRII-791.
*” Thuysen Stee! v Commission [1999] CCRII-347

41
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41.

operated with its competitors in fixing the price of the discount granted to the agents or

resellers and in fixing the price of toaster bread. It also admits to certain arrangements

that may be understood as market sharing arrangements. It does not however admit to

having participated in fixing the price of the standard loaf of bread orthe timing of the

increase, the most-serious of the offences levelled against the Western Cape bread

producers, Because this has a bearing on the size of the administrative penalty to be

imposed, we are, despite the concessions made required to examine the evidence

before us.

The primary plant bakeries in the Western Cape, which collectively account for

approximately 60% of bread sales in the region, are:”®

1) Albany Bakery, owned by Tiger Brands

2) Sasko and Duens, owned by Pioneer; and

3) Blue Ribbon, owned by Premier Foods

Up until it was disbanded in 2002 meetings of the local chapter of the Chamber of

Baking, took place regularly in the Western Cape. These were chaired by Mr. Louwrens,

a senior employee of Sasko. Mr. Lavery, an employee of Premier, testified that it was

common practice for the participants from the various bakeries to discusspricing issues

after the conclusion of the official business of the meetings. Lavery alsotestified that

after the local chapter of the Chamber of Baking was disbanded in 2002 informal

meetings continued to be convened every 4-5 months to discuss, inter alia, price

increases, the timing thereof and discounts to agents. However, according to Lavery

agreements that arose from these informal meetings were often not honoured. It appears

that the form that the cheating most often took was in the granting, by the individual

bakeries, of confidential discounts particularly to the large retailers. This, in the best

tradition of competition, then generated a retaliatory response from the other bakeries

thus reducing the net margin gained from an agreed increase in the list price.

Accordingly even these informal meetings were discontinued after a meeting held in

October 2003 broke up in considerable acrimony precisely because of perceptions of

cheating on pricing agreements.”

However, ad hoc contact between representatives of the plant bakery continued even

after these informal ‘post-chamber’ meetings had been terminated. Critically, at least

8 The remainder of the market is served by smaller independent bakeries.

|avery witness statement page 408 of pleadings bundle.
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42.

43.

44.

from the perspective of the credibility of the various witnesses, these included, on the

version of Mr. Lavery, a meeting between Lavery, a senior Premier employee, and

Goosen of Pioneer. Lavery very clearly recalls the purpose of the meeting (to sound out

Goosen onthe possibility of a price increase), the venue of the meeting (Goosen’soffice

in Paarl) and the outcomeof the meeting (Goosen advised that Sasko did not intend to

put through a price increase). Goosen, forhis part, alternatively has no recollection of

the meeting or denies thatit ever took place.

There is no reason not to accept Lavery’s version of the meeting. He has, at this stage,

no incentive to mislead the Tribunal and lis version of a number of straightforward

issues pertaining to the meeting is clear and forthright. Moreover, thelikelihood that

Lavery and Goosen had metin this period is bolstered by other, unchallenged evidence

of contact between senior representatives of the three plant bakeries active in the

Western Cape. For example in 2004 Louwrens (Pioneer), Lavery (Premier) and Grobler

(Tiger) met to discuss discounts and in 2006 Mr. Bester of Sasko phoned Lavery to

discuss the price of toaster bread.*°

During 2005/06 the escalating theft of plastic bread crates — a critical element of the

distribution process. and, because of that, of the baking process itself - emerged as a

serious problem which affected all the plant bakeries and compelled them to deal with

this recurring problem via a number of meetings held during the latter half of 2006. The

last of these crate meetings took place on the 23% November 2008.

This period coincided with a significant escalation in key input costs, notably wheat and

fuel. In addition Sasko was beset by severe labour problems, including a majorstrike.

These factors all predisposed the bakeries to contemplate a significant price increase.

However, the breakdownin relations between the bakers over the preceding 3 years and

the persistence of significant unilateral discounting including to their retail customers,

suggested that any price increase would be competed away. Indeed much of 2006 is

characterised by several abortive attempts on the part of each of the plant bakeries to

put through price increases, with each attemptfoiled by discounting on the part of their

rivals or simply by arefusal to follow their rivals’ increases.*' Despite the best efforts of

the bakeries, competition, probably driven by the imperative on the part of each bakery

to maximise volumes sold, had well and truly broken out.

50 Pleadings bundle p 409.

51 CC Heads of Argument (HOA) paras 97-107
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45. But the unusually large increases in the pricesofcritical inputs strengthened the efforts

to achieve a sustainable increase in the price of bread, one that was not eroded by

inconvenience of competition. Indeed Mr. Tertius Carstens himself, the Executive

director of the Sasko Division, wrote to Goosen and his two national sales managers in

October 2006 emphasising the urgent requirement for an increase in the price of bread

indicating that ‘we shall not have the luxury to await anotherprice increaselater than Feb

07’ because ‘(input price) increases such as these cannot absorbed within our system’.”

46. We should at this stage emphasise that although the various plant bakeries experienced

identical key cost drivers, there is no reason to expect that they would, in the absence of

collusion, contemplate identical price increases. This was confirmed by both Lavery and

Goosen.*

47. However, as already intimated, in the all-important formal trade — that is, the sale of

bread to the large grocery chains who accountedfor a very large proportion oftotal sales

- the list price was usually the opening gambit in a confidential series of negotiations over

the size of the discount that would be extended to these powerful customers. In short it

was not enough to agree the increaseof thelist price; this had to be accompanied by an

agreement not to undermine the increase via a process of confidential discounting. As

we shall elaborate below Pioneer has attempted — with, in our view, deliberate deceit — to

present the discounting issue as one implicating only the discounts granted to the

agents, effectively a fee for carrying out a distribution function,. However, although a

clear per se contravention of the Act, this was a relatively trivial issue for the plant

bakeries, if not for the agents themselves. For the bread producers, the critical issue

were the discounts extended to the large groceries. Again this is clearly confirmed in

Goosen's testimony before the Tribunal.*#

48. Also of importance: is the timing of the increase. The evidence is that customers,

particularly the large grocers, respond extremely sensitively to changes in the relative

prices of the various bread brands and that changesin the relative price (this frequently

expressed as a changein the relative discount) impacts rapidly on relative levels of

demand. We were not told whether the grocers passed their discounts on to their

 

customers, the ultimate consumers of bread, but several of the witnesses confirmed the

= CC HOA par 96 and Pioneer's bundle of documents, page 386

%Transcript pages 183 and 348
54 According to Goosen Formalretail constitutes 30% of Sasko’s business and informal trade, informal general

trade thatis not part of the retail chains about 50% andthe balanceis represented by independent

distributors,
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importance of timing, of the serious consequences of an unsynchronised implementation

of increases, even if the amountof the net increase had been agreed.

49. The issues confronting those responsible for pricing decisions in the bread market are

succinctly summed up in the Commission’s heads of argument:

What emerges from the testimony of Lavery and Goosen js that securing

sustainable price increases through unilateral conduct was fraught with

uncertainty and risk. To be a first moverin increasing prices allowedrivals to

maintain price differentials and thereby gain market share at the expense of

the first mover. There is ample evidence that the plant bakeries had suffered

erosion of their margins in the period 2003 to 2006 (the period of scantco-

operation) at least in part because price increases were proneto attrition by

aggressive discounting on the part of rivals.°

50. It is against this background that, at the November 2006 crate meeting, Tiger raised the

question of pricing as well as the level of discounts granted to agents. Because the

Pioneer representatives at the crate meetings, Mr. Bester and Mr. Patience, did not have

the authority to represent their firm where pricing issues were concerned ~ for this the

participation of Mr. Louwrens, one of Sasko’s national sales managers, was required - a

further meeting was arranged for 6" December specifically to discuss pricing. This is

explicitly confirmed in the answering affidavit of Goosen himself and no further evidence

of the purpose of the meeting of 6” Decemberis required:

28. | am informed by Bester and Patience that, at the meeting of the 23"

November 2006, Willie Marais of Tiger suggested that since all major plant

bakeries were present at the crate meetings, they might as well use the

opportunity to discuss the pricing of bread in general and commissions paid to

distributors. All the bakeries’ employees at that meetings saw sense in the

proposed courseofaction...Bester and Patience of Pioneer Foods told Marais

that without Louwrens the issue of bread prices could not be discussed

fruitfully. A further meeting was arranged for 6 December 2006. This was not

a crate meeting.**

51. Note the reference to ‘the pricing of bread in general and commissions paid to

distributors’. These refer to twodifferent prices. The formerrefers to the price of bread

35 CC’s HOA par 82
35 CC’s HOA par 114
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52.

53.

54,

to the retail trade and it was this that required authority at a higher level than Bester and

Patience. We understand ‘the commission paid to distributors’ to refer to the resellers

fee, possibly something that Bester and Patience may well have had sufficient authority

to deal with, but ‘the issue of bread prices’ certainly required higher authority, hence the

decision to convene a further meeting on 6" December 2006, a meeting specifically

identified as ‘not a crate meeting’.

So much for the purpose of the meeting of 6" December 2006 meeting and let us be

clear that we are in no doubtthatall the pertinent evidence points to this being a meeting

convened principally to discuss the price of bread, and also to discuss the secondary

issue of discounts to the agents.

However, despite the rather clear statement made under oath by the General Manager

of their baking division, Pioneer disputes this. Effectively Pioneer, largely through the

testimony of Goosen, the very person who signed the affidavit from which the above

extract is drawn, arguesthatits representatives did not determine the extent ofits price

increase in the company of its competitors at the meeting of the 6" December 2006.

Insteadit insists that Goosen had unilaterally decided on the extent of the price increase

some weeks previously, a decision confirmed at a Sasko national sales meeting held on

the 22-23 November 2006. Furthermore Goosen avers that this latter meeting also

determinedthetiming of the increase -15" January 2007 for the generaltrade and 5" of

February 2007 for the national retail chains. On 4" of December 2006, we aretold,

Goosen decided to bring forward the timing of the increase after receiving market

intelligence from Mr. Hollenbach, a national sales manager and a key playerin Pioneer’s

pricing decisions, who informed Goosen that Pioneer's competitors intended increasing

their prices on 18" December2008.

However it appears that the only publicly available information confirming a decision

regarding a price increase came from a letter from Tiger to its customers in the inland

region (that is, specifically not in the Western Cape) informing them ofits intention to

increaseits price from 17" December 2006. We agree with the Commission that this

did not obviate the necessity, from Goosen’s perspective, to confirm his competitors’

timing of the increases planned for the Western Cape and, possibly more important, the

extent of the actual increase, that is to say, a clear understandingthat, in contrast with

the experiencesof the preceding year, this increase was not going to be competed away

by discounting. These critical factors were to be determined at the meeting scheduled

for 6° December 2008.
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55.

56.

57.

58.

We accordingly accept the Commission's contention that the decision to implement, as

opposedto consider, the increase in the price of bread in the Western Cape was made

by Pioneer, probably by Goosen,not at the earlier meeting of 22-23 November 2006 nor

pursuant to the information received from Hollenbach on 4" December 2006, but rather

pursuant to the outcome of the meeting on 6" December 2006 attended by Louwrens, a

key Pioneer decision maker in pricing matters, as well as senior representatives of

Pioneer's competitors in the Western Cape. Expresseddifferently, Pioneers’ agreement

with its competitors on 6 December 2006,notits unilateral conduct, was the cause of the

increasein the price of its bread in December. Like the Commission we find Goosen’s

claim that he had neither discussed the purpose of Louwrens’ attendance at the meeting

of the 6" with Louwrens nor received feedback from Louwrens subsequent to the

meeting thoroughly implausible.

Indeed we note too Lavery’s testimony - which remained unchallenged by Louwrens

who Pioneer elected not to call upon to give evidence - to the effect that Louwrens had

informed him that Goosen was not comfortable with his, that is Louwrens’, participation

in the meeting. This evidence speaks to someone, namely Goosen, whois fully aware of

the legal implications of the meeting and has attempted to distance himself, conceivably

even has instructed Louwrens to distance himself, Sasko's ultimate decision maker, from

it, a practice sometimesreferred to as ‘plausible deniability’. However, regrettably for Mr.

Goosen and Pioneer, his denials are, given the surrounding circumstances and to putit

as politely as possible, thoroughly implausible.

There is then the question of the content of the meeting of the 6" December. Pioneer

concedes that certain agreements were indeed reached at this meeting (although

Goosen apparently continues to deny any involvement in or even knowledge of the

decisions that Pioneer concedes were made). We understand Pioneer to concedethatit

fixed the price and the date of increasein the price of toaster bread, a value added loaf,

again a clear contravention of Section 4(1)(b) of the Act. And it is clearly conceded that

the three competing bakeries agreed to cap the discount to agents at 90c perloaf.

Goosen’s affidavit also refers to several other agreements that effectively amount to

forms of marketallocation but we will not concern ourselves with thesefor the present.°”

However, Pioneer continues to deny that the meeting fixed the price of a standard loaf of

bread, or, at least, that Pioneer wasparty to the fix. This denial is maintained in the face

of the extract from Goosen’s replying affidavit already cited in which he concedesthat

57 CC HOApar124.4
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there had been a proposal at the last crate meeting of the 237 Novemberto discuss

‘pricing of bread in general’ and that Pioneers representatives, Bester and Patience, had

specifically asked that a discussion of‘the issue of bread prices’ be held with Louwrens

present, hence the postponementof the discussion until the 6" December.

59. And yet the evidence is incontrovertible. [It is worth citing a passage from Goosen's

answering affidavit at length:

“On 6 December 2006, a meeting of certain employees of the three plant

bakeries, Pioneer Foods, Tiger and Premier, was held at the City Lodge in

Bellville. This meeting was attended by Bester, Patience, Louwrens and

Pieter Cilliers of Pioneer Foods, Lavery of Premier, and Marais and Rassie

Easmus of Tiger. Marais told the meeting that Tiger intended to increase its

standard bread prices by 25c to 30c per loaf on 15 January 2007. Louwrens

informed the meeting that Pioneer Foods hadinitially plannedto increase the

bread prices during January/February 2007 as well, but pursuant fo rumours

in the Gauteng area would implement its price increases on 18 December

2006. Louwrens also said that Pioneer Foods increase was between 35c to

45c per loaf on average and thatits price for the standard 700g white bread

would be increased to R5.10 (VAT included) and that the standard 700g

brown bread to R4.35 per loaf. To the best of Louwrens’ recollection, Premier

stated that it would be increasing its bread prices on 18 December as well.

Pioneer Foods’ employee did not require any of the other bakeries to align

themselves with its price increases and the timing thereof, but merely stated

what had already been decided andpartially implemented by Pioneer Foods.

it was stated by the mentioned employeesthatit was each bakery’s intention

to implementits general price increase of about 35 cents per loaf on standard

bread during December 2006."

60. Goosen then goes onto list a numberof other agreements covering,inter alia, the price

of toaster bread as well as an agreement to cap the discounts to the resellers. The

agreements listed in the subsidiary paragraphs to that cited above are essentially

conceded by Pioneer.

61. Pioneerclearly seeks to rely on Goosen’s avermentthat:

58 Goosen’s answering affidavit (AA) par 29
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62.

63.

64.

“Pioneer Foods’ employee did not require any ofthe other bakeries to align

themselves with its price increases and the timing thereof, but merely stated

what had already been decided andpartially implemented by Pioneer Foods.”

But why. attend the meeting at all, a meeting that on Lavery’s unchallenged evidence,

Goosen told Louwrens that he was ‘uncomfortable’ with Louwrens attending, clearly

inferring that he knewit to incriminatehis firm in an illegal price fixing conspiracy? The

short answer is that Pioneer had to be there to ensure that there was agreement

between the competitors and that each of its competitors were committed to stick to an

agreed increase and to co-ordinate the timing. Each of the participants in the meeting

had attempted increases in 2006 all of which had been undermined by their competitors

chasing volume throughdiscounting off the list price. The purposeof this meeting was to

ensure that the agreed price stuck.

While Lavery of Premier informed the meeting that his company had decided on a 30c

increase, it too ultimately effected an increase of 35c, the agreed amount. Bester,

Goosens’ and Louwrens’ junior colleague, recorded in his diary note of the meeting 2

Prysverhoging 35c ~ 18/12/07’. Pioneer elected notto call anyofits representatives who

had actually attended the meeting. This despite the fact that the witnesses were

available to it. Indeed it was only on the afternoon after Mr Goosen had concluded his

testimony that Pioneer elected not to call their further witnesses.

Pioneer's claim to have decided unilaterally to the increase prior to the meeting amounts

to an unremarkable avermentthat it had come to the meeting with a position on the size

of the increase and the implementation date, as, indeed, had all of its co-conspirators.

This would pertain to any negotiation — be it a negotiation over wage rates or nuclear

disarmament. The point of the negotiation, which aptly describes the meeting of the 6",

is to arrive at an agreement, as close as possible to one’s preferred position, with those

others whose agreement is necessary to turn a unilateral wish into an agreed upon

reality. Unfortunately for Goosen and Pioneerit is also at this point that the Competition

Act is contravened. Nor, we should add, is it surprising that each baker arrived at the

meeting with a similar ball park figure in mind given the similar nature of the cost drivers

that they confronted. The point of the meeting wasto fine tune the agreementasto size

and timing and, above all, to enable each to assess that its competitors understood the

imperative to sustain the agreed price hike. Once this meeting had been satisfactorily

concluded, then, andonly then, could the fix be properly said to be in place.
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65.

66.

67.

68.

69.

indeed, it appears that the meeting of 6"" Decemberleft a few loose ends, particularly as

regards timing, necessitating the convening of a further meeting which was held on 12"

December. At this meeting a staggering of implementation dates was agreed, largelyit

appears for technical reasons”, but it seems also to avoid giving the impression of price

leadership.*° An exchange betweenthe Tribunal panel and Mr. Van DerLinde, a Premier

witness called by the Commissionin the hearing of the national complaint, indicates that

on other occasions the agreement had been to stagger the implementation dates over

several weeks.*’ in this instance however, the implementation appears to have been

staggered over three days, a measure, we infer, of the level of mistrust between the

parties and of the reluctance to allow any one of the bakeries to receive the volume

boostthat it would receive from holding backits increase by several weeks.

Pioneer, through Goosen’s testimony, appears to deny that the meeting of 12"

December discussed implementation dates but they have offered no evidence in support

of their denial.

But we see that, as in so many conspiracies, from Watergate to Breadgate, the most

blatant and ludicrous mendacity is reserved for the cover up. In this particular instance

an attempted coverup is put in place,firstly, in response to an email communication

from a Mr. de Villiers, the Executive Director of the Chamber of Baking. Secondly, we

will dissect Goosens’ responseto a letter from a firm of attorneys instructed, it appears,

by certain of the agents, whose commission it will be recalled, was also fixed by the

meeting of 6" December.

The pertinent paragraphof De Villiers’ email of the 14" December reads:*

"| received a call from the Cape Argus today. They received a call from a

gentlemanin the Cape accusingaif the big plant bakers by nameto colludein

pricing and trade conditions. He accused the big bakers of pushing up the

price of bread by 35c andjointly reducedthe discountsto the retailers.”

How did Goosen respondto this serious allegation? Not, it appears, by denyingit, not by

assuring DeVilliers of his lack of knowledgeofthis seriousstate of affairs or, at least, of

undertaking to ensure that he would immediately ascertain whether any Pioneer

employees had, unbéknown to him, been colluding with his competitors. Nor does he

3 It seemsthat Tiger’s computer system only allowed a newprice to be implemented from the 19" and not

the 18" December. Transcript P143line 9-13

“© transcript P2641
“Transcript p285
* Dioneer’s bundle of documents page 460
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70.

71.

undertake such an investigation. It appears that he makes no contact with Louwrens at

all despite knowing, as his affidavit confirms, that he, Louwrens, had participated in a

meeting on 6" December to discuss pricing and the agents’ commission, precisely the

matter into which the Cape Argus is enquiring.

instead he contacts his two bakery managers, Bester and Patience, not to confront them

with his knowledge of the allegations or to enquire as to whether they had any

knowledge of the allegations. No, he immediately contacts Bester and Patience and

instructs them to ‘please ensure that your sales staff does not make any such statements

as referred to in the attached’. In fact Goosen’s testimony suggests that his brief contact

with Bester and Patience centred on the less serious aspect of the conduct referred to in

De Villiers’ email, namely, the agents’ discounts. We infer that this rather unusual

approach was adopted because Goosen knew or suspected that the media’s source of

information were precisely the disgruntled agents and that he thought that he may be

able to make the whole matter go away by satisfying their major grievance, the capping

of their distribution fee or ‘discounts’. Moreover his instruction to Bester and Patience

which required them to ensurethat their sales staff did not make “any such statements

as referred in the attached” — the attached containing allegations of collusion on price

increases and agents’ commission - clearly demonstrates that Goosen at that time

already had knowledge of the agreements on both the bread prices and the agents’

commission.

Be that as it may the reason for Goosens’ anxiety and for his particular instruction to

Bester and Patience is patently obvious. Hitherto, upon announcementof a newpricelist

the national sales managers and bakery managers would enter into the process of

negotiating discounts. In this instance they had to have beentold that, contrary to recent

experience andpractice, this time the intention was to actually implementthe announced

increase and that they would not be undercut by their rivals. In other words, the fact of

an agreement could not be kept within a small clique of senior staff. In orderforit to be

effective, others, possibly less familiar with the niceties of competition law, had to be

informed. As Goosen himself explains:

“To make this stick, you then have to have your bakery managers, your sales

managers, your reps, everyane in the business knowing that they are not

allowed to discount fo protect volumes. So, you then have to communicate
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72.

73.

74.

75.

this to a lot of people within the organisation not to discount to protect

volumes.”

One does not have to be a conspiracy theorist or unduly paranoid to understand thatit is

one thing for a select group of senior people to conspire secretly,it is quite anotherthing

to maintain the secrecy once the foot soldiers have to be engaged. In short Goosendid

notinitiate an enquiry into whetheror not a cartel was in operation precisely because he

knew intimately of the existence of the cartel. Hitherto his actions had consisted in

formulating his firm’s bargaining position and in ensuring that he, as Pioneer’s senior

bread executive, was sufficiently distant from the coal face at which the agreement was

actually concluded to plausibly denyits existence. But now that the secret was out he

had to deal with those who he had sentout into the field and he had to instruct them to

ensure that his subordinates and their subordinates knew how to keep a secret. And, as

suggested above, we infer from his actions andhislimited conversation with Bester and

Patience, he was preparing to make admissions that they had set a cap on the agents’

fees but he was not yet prepared to concede to havefixed the price of the standardloaf.

We have no heéitation in accepting the Commission's contention that Goosen’s

testimony was false. We shall revisit the consequences of this when we decide the

administrative penalty to be imposed.

The second evidence of an attempted cover up and a simultaneous attempt at limited

damage contro! is contained in Goosen’s response to the letter received from a firm of

attorneys, Roup Attorneys. This letter was received on the 20" December, some 6 days

after receipt of the email from DeVilliers. \t contains precisely the same allegations as

those referred to in DeVilliers’ email, namely, that the bakeries have colludedin fixing an

agreed increase in the price of bread and an agreed decreasein the size of the agents’

fees.

His response to Roup Attorneys is, for the most part, substantively the same as his

response to De Villiers. He does not make contact with his superiors, nor does he

investigate the allocations. Instead it appears that he contacts Mr. Stofberg, Pioneer's

General Counsel, and he immediately sends a polite response to Roup Attorneys

advising them that he, Goosen, had not been underthe impression that his company had

contravened the Competition Act and undertaking that ‘ we will with immediate effect

amend our commission structures with our bread distributors.’ On the same day he

writes to two relatively junior people in the Tiger and Premier Western Cape

& Transcript page 765
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76,

Th

78.

management structures, namely Mr. Erasmus and Mr. Donovan, advising them that his

company will no longer abide by the agreementin respect of the agents’ commission, No

reference is madeto the allegation concerning thefixing of the bread price, nor does he

conduct any investigation into this extremely serious allegation, nor does he take steps

to advise his superiors that the company stands accused of major antitrust violations.

Instead he focuses onhis efforts to keep the bread distributors sweet, by being seen to

address what he perceives to be their major gripe, and, from his perspective, the least

consequentialof the antitrust violations alleged.

In fact the first time that Goosen acknowledges investigating the allegation is after

receiving the Commission's referral of 14" February. And then the investigation is

conducted, not for the purposesofeliciting the truth, not in order ascertain whether the

meeting held, with his knowledge, to discuss prices way back in December, could be

construed as price fixing meetings. The investigation is done for the purpose of

preparing forlitigation, so much so that litigation privilege is claimed overthe fruits of the

investigation.

We should be clear that we believe that Goosen haslied to the Tribunal. Everything

points to him having full knowledge of the purpose and outcome of the December

meetings. He thought that he had distanced himself suitably from the decisions made at

those meetings, in part by being seen tg have made certain of Pioneer's pricing

decisions prior to the meeting. This has formed the cornerstone of Pioneer's defence.

At worst these ‘decisions’ were a sham specifically designed to take the senior Sasko

decision maker out of harms way, at best they represented the Sasko position which was

submitted for agreement to the meetings of the 6” and 12" December. He did not

investigate the allegations contained in the De Villlers and Roup letters because he knew

them to be true, instead he retreated by admitting to the least serious offence and shored

up his defencesfor the more seriousof the allegations.

In conclusion, we have no hesitation in finding that the bread division of Pioneer has

been involved in a conspiracyto fix the increase of the price of a standard loaf of bread

in the Western Cape as well as the timing of this increase. This ~ in addition to the

concession made regarding thefixing of the agents’ commissions and those concessions

made with respect to the various market allocations - amounts to a comprehensive

contravention of Section 4(1)(b)() and(ii) of the Competition Act.
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79. Accordingly wefind that in December 2006, Premier Foods, Pioneer Foods(throughits

Sasko division) and Tiger Brands contravened section 4(1)(b)(i) and (il) in that they

agreed that-

79.1. all three firms would increase the discounted price of toaster bread on 5

February 2007 to realise R4.25 per loaf including tax;

79.2. all three firms would increase the price of the standard loaf of bread by 35c

perloaf from 18 December 2006;

79.3. the dates by which the bread price increases were to be implemented would

be staggered so as not to be implemented on the same date;

79.4, discounts (commissions) given byail three firms to agents in the Paarl area

would be capped at 90c and 75c for agents in the Cape Peninsula,

79.5. noneofthe firms would supply new distributors;

79.6. noneof the firms would supply each other's former employees; and

73,7, noneofthe firms would make bread deliveries on 25 and 26 December 2006.

National/Inland Complaint

80. We turn now to consider the Commission’s national complaint.

81. The Commission submitted that nothing much turns on the geographic definition of the

relevant market because each of the respondents has its own sub-regions, with areas of

overlap. At issue is the national bread market because co-ordination between the

respondents has taken place with the aim of implementing it across all areas of the

country. The Commission does not allege that a cartel existed at all times acrossall

areas or regions of the country or that the co-ordination or agreement or understanding

related to the same subject matter in all regions.” Ratherit alleges that there was an

understanding among the respondents stretching backin time,in relation to the national

bread industry, and that meetings and discussions between employees of the

respondents continued to take place in various regions. Overtime this understanding

took various forms such as the division of markets by allocating territories, fixing the

* see Commission’s referral
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82.

83.

84.

selling price and other conditions of trade in contravention of section 4(1)(b)(i) and (ii).

However, the cartel was not necessarily equally stable in all parts of the country (in all

regions) at all or the same time, with some regions such as the Western Cape

experiencing more acrimonyfor longer periods of time than other regions. Nor was the

subject matter of the co-ordination among the respondents the sameacrossall regions.

In some regionsthe co-ordination involved allocating customers,in others pricefixing, in

some both. The term “national” or “inland” was simply utilised by the Commission as

short hand to describe the geographic region of the country other than the Western

Cape. “In support of its case that this agreement or understanding extended into

regions otherthan the Western Cape, the Commission relied upon a numberof meetings

held in the Gauteng and North West regions by employees of the respondents and

documents pertaining to the sale of bakeries.

Pioneer's approachto this evidence was, depending on the context, to deny that certain

meetings had taken place at all, to admit such meetings had taken place but to dispute

the details thereof, to rely on non-attendance by its employees at certain meetings as

evidencethat it was not party to co-ordination and finally, as a catch-all defence, that the

conduct ceased more than three years before the complaint was initiated. The last

mentioned defence is equivalent to a plea of prescription and is located in section 67(1)

of the Act.

Section 67(1) provides that —

“A complaint in respect of a prohibited practice maynot beinitiated more than

three years after the practice has ceased”.

The provisions of section 67(1) are analogous to provisions underthe Prescription Act or

similar provisions in other statutes which limit the time within which actions can be

instituted against certain respondents.“© The ordinary reading of the section suggests

that it intends to preclude theinitiation of a complaint more than three years after the

practice has ceased. Pioneer argued that because the conduct alleged by the

Commission under this complaint, notably the agreementto divide markets in 2001 and

the subsequent meetingsto divide markets andfix prices had ceased three years before

the Commission had initiated its complaint, Pioneer could not be prosecuted for that

conduct.

“5 Commission heads, opening statement and final argument
*8 See sec 3(1) of the Prescription Act 68 of 1969
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85. Section 67(1) does notstipulate who is precluded from initiating a complaint. Nor doesit

clarify what is meantbyinitiation. However section 49B read together with sections 50

& 51 sets out the following framework for the investigation and referral of complaints.

Any person may submit a complaint or information to the Commission (section 49B(2)).

However the powerto initiate a complaint rests solely with the Commission (section

49B(1)). Section 49B(3) confirms thatit is the Commission whois empoweredto initiate

and provides that after initiating or receiving a complaint the Commission mustdirect an

inspector to investigate the complaint as quickly as possible and that after it had

completed its investigation in accordance with the dictates of section 50, it may referall

or parts of the complaint to the Tribunal or non-refer all or parts thereof.” While

initiation, investigation and referral could conceivably all happen within the space of 24

hours, the act of referral (or non-referral) is always preceded by an actofinitiation and

the two are distinct from each other, Section 67(1) addressesitself to the act ofinitiation

and not referral. The Commission referred this matter to the Tribunal on 6 May 2008 but

hadinitiated the national/inland complaint on 14 February 2007.

86. Section 67(1) is silent on the issue of onus. Howeverthe position in South African law is

abundantly clear. A court shall not of its own motion take notice of prescription.** In

other words if a party wishes to rely on prescription thenit is required to raise it as a

special plea. Moreoverit is for a party invoking prescription to allege and prove the date

of inception of the period of prescription. 5° Hence Pioneer,if it wishes to rely on the

 

provisions of s67(1) is required to allege and prove, on a balance of probabilities that the

conduct complained of by the Commission in its complaint of referral of 2007 ceased

three years before this date. Such an approach to section 67(1) is entirely appropriate in

the context of the secretive nature of cartel activity, where respondents engage in

meetings held behind closed doors, at restaurants, pubs and hotels, keeping virtually no

papertrail and where proof of these arrangements lie squarely and solely within the

knowledge of co-conspirators.

87. Apart from raising prescription Pioneer placed great emphasis on the secondplankin its

defence armoury, namely Sasko’s absence from a number of meetings relied upon by

the Commission in its referral. It adopted a piece- meal approach to each meeting and

 

argued that because Sasko employees were present only in one or two meetings

’ Section 51, see also Glaxosmithkline SA, Case no 97/CR/Nov04

4Under case number CC/Pioneer and Another, 2007Jan2717,see transcript page 916.

* section 17(1) of the Prescription Act

5° See Harms Superior Court Practice. Also see Van WinsenCilliers & Loots Civil Practice of the Supreme Court

of South Africa.

26



 

88.

89.

90.

referred to in the Commission's referral and that these had taken place more than three

years the Commission’s initiation, the Tribunal could not rely on evidence of meetings

between other respondents to conclude that Pioneer wasparty to the co-ordination.

Agreement to divide markets in the Southern Gauteng, Free State, North West regions

and Mpumalanga

The Commission alleged that in 1999, each of Sasko (Pioneer), Blue Ribbon (Premier),

Albany Bakery (Tiger) and Sunbake (Foodcorp) concluded a verbal agreementin terms

of which they would not compete with one anotherin certain specified geographic areas

of the country. Pursuantto this agreementit was resolved that Sasko would close down

its bakery in Welkom on the understanding that this would enable Albany Bakery to

expand in the Welkom area. In exchange Albany Bakery agreed to keepoutof the wider

Free Stare area for the benefit of Sasko.*"

MsPieterse, the site manager for Blue Ribbonin Potchefstroom confirmed that a similar

agreement had beenin place in her region, the North West. Shetestified that during

1999 an agreement wasstruck between theprincipal officers of Albany, Sasko, Sunbake

and Premier that the parties would not compete with one anotherin respect of supplying

bread to the informal trade in certain geographic areas. The informal trade consisted of

hawkers, spaza shops andthelike who would buy bread directly from the bakery. Albany

was not entitled to supply the informal trade with bread in the Krugersdorp,

Potchefstroom, Stilfontein and Orkney areas. They were howeverentitled to compete

with one anotherin the formal trade which would include the national retai! chain stores,

national retail forecourts etc. Pursuant to this agreement Albany closed a bakery in

Krugersdorp. ** Ms Pieterse claims that the agreement remained in place until 2005

when Albany attempted to enterthe area.

Documents filed through the discovery process, in respect of which no objection was

raised by Pioneer, demonstrate that a similar arrangement was put in place in the

Mpumalanga® region in 2001. Tiger Brands, Foodcorp and Pioneer had concluded

written agreements in relation to the purchase and sale of bakeries in Mpumalanga.

These included the sale by Albany (Tiger Brands) and Pioneer (each owning 50%) of

Ridgeton bakery in Bush Buck Ridge to Foodcorp, the sale by Foodcorpofits bakery

business in Groblersdal to Pioneer and the sale by Foodcorpofits 42% share in Ermelo

5 Commission’s referral affidavit paras 60-61

* Witness statement par4

53 Dioneer treats Limpopo & Mpumalanga as one region
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bakery to Albany. The outcome of these agreements was that Albany would own the

Ermelo bakery, Pioneer the Groblersdal bakery and Foodcorp the Ridgeton bakery.

While these agreements had the semblance of a sale of assets in the ordinary course,

three aspects suggest that they were in fact a manifestation of a wider market division

agreement between the parties. First all the agreements were conditional upon each

other, second they were all in favour of parties who were existing competitors in the

bread industry and in two of them the sellers paid the purchaser a purchase price.

While the signatories to the agreements are not cited, one would expect that these

! agreements would have required the sanction of the highest authority in the company,

mostlikely the CEO if not the Board, because they involved the sale and purchase of

assets of each company.

91.Ms Pieterse was not party to the original arrangement but she was sufficiently

knowledgeable about its intent so as to diligently monitor compliance with i. So

entrenched was the understanding of the “zoning arrangements’ amongst the foot

soldiers of these respondents, that when a sole Albany truck was sighted entering

Woimaranstad, this was immediately reported to Ms Pieterse who knowing that “they

weren't supposedto be there”reported this to her superior Mr Tomicic.

92. Mr Goosen, the main — and eventually only- factual witness for Pioneer who gave oral

testimony states in his answering affidavit that he was aware that such an arrangement

had been struck between competitors, implemented some time in 2001, and that it was

unlawful. °° Howeverhe claimsthat by the time he took over as general managerin 2003

the agreement to divide markets had unravelled and that Sasko no longer took any such

demarcations into account. Mr Goosen claimsfurther that on or about 11 March 2005 in

a meeting with Dudo Tomicic (Blue Ribbon) and Eugene Beneke (Albany) in Paarl, he

and Mr Beneke confirmed that the market division arrangement no longer formed part of

| their businesses, that any understanding or agreementto that effect had ceased and that

no new arrangements would be entered into. Furthermore he pleads that the

arrangement ceased “more than three years before the initiation of the complaint”, thus

seeking the protection of section 67(1).

 

93. Let us examine the testimony of Goosen. He claims that the agreement was terminated

in 2003. {f that was the case why did he deemit necessary to meet with his competitors

= See clause 4 of each of the three agreementsat pages 559, 623 and 656 in the Commission’s bundle of

documents

a Transcript page 315-7

58 see Goosen AA paras 29 -30
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94.

95.

96.

in March 2005, some twoyears after the arrangement had seemingly fallen away. And

then why meet at all? Moreover why did he not, when he tookoffice in 2003, distance

himself from this arrangement when on his own version he was aware that these

arrangements were unlawful? And then whydid Pioneeroranyofits competitors, under

Goosen's watch, simply not re-enterthoseterritories in a sustainable manner from which

they had previously exited?

When pressed by Mr Unterhalter, underthe heat of cross examination, Goosen admitted

that he did notin fact know that the arrangements had ceased but had merely “assumed”

so.” Once again we see Goosen seeking to mislead this Tribunal. His strident claim

that the agreement had come to an end in 2003 was clearly false and cannot be relied

uponat all. Given Goosen’s admission that he was aware of such agreements and that

he had merely assumedthat they were nolongerin place, the only matter that needs to

be decided by us is whether this broad agreement to divide markets had ceased or

terminated three years prior to the Commission'sinitiation.

Indeed if Goosen was to be believed at all, which he is not, the meeting of 11 March

2005 wasthe earliest possible date of termination of the arrangement. This is supported

to some extent by Ms Pieterse whorecalls that after the sighting of the lone Albany truck

was reported to her she called her managing director Mr Tomicic who advised herthat

there were no more “zoning arrangements”in place since 2005. Shetestified further

that since 2005 BlueRibbon,at least in her region, had proceeded on the basis that the

zoning arrangements were no longer in place. Howevera bald claim by members of a

cartel that their conduct had ceased - which claim serves only their owninterests - is not

in our view sufficient proof that it had in fact terminated. More so the case when one

has regard to the nature of the agreement.

In this instance the agreement among the four bakeries was an agreement to

permanently remove themselves from a particular territory in favour of their competitors.

One manifestation of this agreement was the permanent removal of capacity by the

clasing down bakeries in favour of each other. Another was to stay out of certain areas

by not distributing bread in those areas. Henceit was an agreement not to compete in

identified territories, an agreement to withhold supply, to omit the territory in their

distribution strategy, to ignore identified areas across the country. For as long as the

respondents stayed outofthe territories they had previously been presentin, for as long

7 Transcript pages 475 and 477

= Transcript page 315-6

29



  

97.

as they, in fact, continued not to compete in those areas so did the agreement remain in

force.

In order for Pioneer to succeed in a section 67(1) defence, it and not the Commission

was required to prove that the market division agreement had terminated. Other than

the questionable testimonyof the discredited Goosen and the statement by MsPieterse,

no evidence demonstrating that the bakeries had, on a substantial and sustained basis

re-entered territories they had previously exited in favour of their competitors. We see

no internal business plans, no management accounts, no correspondence and most

importantly no actual distribution or sales figures from any of these four bakeries in

respect of any of the territories, which were the subject of these market division

agreements, to support the claim that the agreements had ended in 2003 or even as late

as 2005. Nor were these claims supported by any public or internal statements that

they had distanced themselves from this arrangementor had required their employees to

do so — this being not entirely surprising given that such public distancing would also

constitute an admission that such conduct had indeed taken place. While we do not

suggest that evidence of substantial re-entry is to be inferred from only the above

mentioned factors, we would certainly expect to see somepositive evidence to enable us

to conclude that re-entry had taken place on a substantial basis to the extent so as to

constitute actual competition and not the mere mirage thereof . In order for us to discern

that the Albany truck constituted an act of rehabilitation and not an isolated act of

betrayal or cheating more needs to be shown. In the absence of any supporting evidence

from Pioneer or any other witness that the errant Albany truck was a manifestation of

actual and sustained competition we cannot conclude that substantial re-entry had taken

place in thoseterritories from which the respondents had removed themselvesin favour

of each other. Furthermore, Pioneer's case is not helped whenit claims that it no longer

considered itself bound to the arrangement. As long as its competitors understood the

agreementto be in place and on that basis did not compete with Pioneerin designated

territories, Pioneer continued to benefit from the market division agreementin the form of

reduced competition. As long as that competitor abided by the agreement and omitted to

compete with Pioneer in an identified territory to any appreciable extent, and not by an

occasional act of cheating, so long was the agreementin place. In our view Pioneer has

failed to discharge its onus under section 67(1). In the absence of proofto the contrary

we can only but conclude that the agreementto divide markets between Pioneer and the

other three bakeriesis still ongoing and has not yet ceased or at least had not ceased as

at date of the hearing.
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Price fixing and customerallocation

98. Where there was prolonged acrimony and aggressive competition between the

respondents in the Western Cape during certain periods, the inland region seemed to

have settled comfortably into conspiracy with sporadic incidents of cheating.

99. Mr Van der Linde and Ms Pieterse of Blue Ribbon testified generally about the

entrenched practices of co-ordination in the Gauteng and North West regions, where

competitors kept a constant eye on each other's movements to ensure compliance with

their agreements and to swiftly deal with occasional acts of rebellion. Neither of them

could recall the exact dates of meetings held between competitors because no minutes

were kept. Howeverthey recalled the content of these meetings and that mostof these

were related to price increases or enforcement issues. Communications between

employees were not limited to meetings but also happened over the phone. Notall

competitors were present at all meetings and those that were not were brought or kept

up to speed on developments and discussions by those present.

100. Ms Pietersetestified that a gentleman’s agreement had been struck at a meeting held

sometime in 2003/4 between Pioneer, Blue Ribbon and Sunbake tothe effect that during

a period of price increases the bakeries would not allow customersto switch suppliers in

order to benefit from any differences in the price provided by each supplier. This

gentleman's agreement however was struck as a corollary to the price fixing

agreement. ,

101. She testified that she had initiated a meeting between Sasko, Sunbake and Blue

Ribbon employees at the Willows Hotel Conference Centre. According to Pieterse Elize

van Dyk, Michael Florence and Johan Oosthuizen represented Sasko. The purposeof

the meeting was to discuss Blue Ribbon’s intended price increase of between 15 and

20c. She could not recall the exact dates of the meeting and that this particular one

may have taken place between 2003 and 2004. At the commencementof the meeting

she advised those present of Blue Ribbon’s increase. All of them agreed on the amount

and the dates on which the increases would be implemented. They also agreed to send

each other copies of their notices advising customers of their increases (“increase

 

notices”) and not to poach each other's customers with large discounts. She explained

that the parties had agreedto increase their prices at more or less the same time and

had agreed not to offer customers large discounts because -

5° See Pieterse witness statement and Van der Linder witness statement

ai



« if Blue Ribbon is goingfirst with a price increase, we tend to lose volumes, due to

the fact that Sasko or Sunbake didn't go up more or less at the sametime,that they

would go to our customers and offer a better price, stating that they are not going

up with a price increase and then the customers could walk over to the opposition

and buying breadfrom him.’

102. The rationale behind the exchange of the increase notices was to confirm to each

other that the increases had been implemented and show their opposition’s letter to

customers who may want to switch as a result of the increase. During a price increase

when a customer threatened to walk over they would use the increase notices to show

the customerthat the competitor was also planning a price increase in a week or two.

103. Pieterse also testified that at that same meeting the competitors had agreed not to

poach each other's largest customers. By and large this agreement was adhered to.

However, from time to time the arrangement was broken. When that happened they

called each other and usually the outcome of those discussions was successful and the

defaulting party would return to adherence.*’ She recalled another meeting in 2005 held

at the Dros Pub in Potchefstroom over lunch. She, Jaco Kruger (Blue Ribbon), Henning

Erich (Sunbake) and Steyn (Sunbake) exchanged information about their price increases

and agreed that the increases would take place in November 2005.

104. The Commission at paragraph 51 ofits referral places the first meeting referred to by

Pieterse in 2004. Pioneer did not dispute that their employees were presentat the first

meeting or that the agreements had not been struck. However it disputed that the

meeting had taken place in 2004 and alleged thatit had in fact taken place in May 2003.

In support of this it filed a document purporting to be an extract of Johan Oosthuizen’s

diary which contained a handwritten reference to a meeting at the Willows Hotel on 22

May 2003. This date was then relied upon by Pioneerto raise a section 67(1) defence.

In order for Pioneer to discharge its onus under section 67(1) it was required to allege

and prove that the conduct alleged by the Commission had ceased three years prior to

the Commission’sinitiation. Given that it had sought to dispute Ms Pieterse’s recollection

by submitting that the meeting had taken place in May 2003, one would expectit to put

up the proof thereof, Needless to say, Mr Oosthuizen, was not called to rebut Pieterse’s

evidence. instead Pioneer chose to rely upon the testimony of Goosen, the cross-

examination of Pieterse and assertions from the bar to prove its case. In our view this

was not sufficient to discharge its onus. Pieterse while admitting that she could not recall

8 Transcript page 307

8 Transcript page 325-6
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the exact date of the meeting, still remained a credible witness as to the content of the

meetings. Furthermore her testimony that the gentleman’s agreement and zoning

agreements persisted until 2005 remained unchallenged. But evenif, for argument's

sake, we were to conclude that Pieterse’s testimony in relation to the dates of the

meetings was unreliable, Pioneer by seeking fo rely on section 67(1) was under an

obligation to prove that the conduct had ceased three years prior to February 2007, and

had failed to do. Pioneer had every opportunity to call Oosthuizen to the stand but

decided against it. We cannot rely on Goosen’s testimony as not only is his recall of

events hazy but we have also found him to be an unreliable witness. The Commission's

version accordingly stands unchallenged.

105. Mr Van der Linde’the financial manager of Blue Ribbon testified to the degree of co-

operation between competitors in the industry in the Gauteng region. Van der Linde had

been employed at Blue Ribbon since 1999 and had occupied various managerial

positions along the way. Hetestified to a series of meetings held between competitors,

which related to price fixing and other trading conditions. While Sasko employees were

not present at allthese meetings, he testified that they were in constant communication

with them either directly or through one orother of the respondents’ employees. Sasko

employees were however present in some meetings. He explained that the general

practice in the industry was that bakeries all increased their prices at more orless the

sametime and agreed to send copies oftheir increase letters to each other. This was to

confirm to each other that they had implemented the increase and to prevent customers

from switching. In orderto secure a price increase they would undertake not to engage

in excessive discounting. Aggressive discounting was seen as cheating and he would

often get calls from competitors threatening him that unless the discounting stopped Blue

Ribbon would face retaliation. While he was not involved in the quantum of the price

discussions he was involved in the implementation side. He tried to ensure that

everybody increased more or less at the same time. In their meetings they would

generally agree on whento increase and which of them would lead with the increase.”

The extent of the co-operation between competitors allowed them to raise complaints

about discounting and discuss this on an ongoingbasis.

106. In order to demonstrate the depth and breadth of the co-ordination between

competitors, Van derLindetestified to a series of meetings held in 2004 at which they

discussedinteralia price increases and dealt with complaints from Sunbake about Blue

* Van der Linde witness statement
5 Transcript page 285-6
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Ribbon’s discounting in the Shoshanguve and Garankuwa. Herecalled a meeting in the

last quarter of 2004 with Colin McCabe of Albany at Eastwood Pub in Pretoria at which

they discussed prices and discounts. At the end of the meeting McCabe undertook to

discuss either prices or discounts with Sasko. At another meeting in December 2004,

held at Kwalata Game Reserve, convened at the request of Dave Taylor (Sunbake),

Sunbake complained about Blue Ribbon’s discounts in the Shoshanguve, Garankuwa

and Hammanskraal area. Derek Coetzer from Blue Ribbon complained about Sunbake’s

excessive discounting in Hammanskraal. Taylor denied this and invited Coetzer to

inspect his “discount” register. At the end of the meeting they agreed that the sales

managers of Sunbake and Blue Ribbon’s Temba Bakery should jointly establish the

extent of the discounts being offered to that custamer.

107. At a meeting held at the Dros pub in Montana around the end of July 2006, attended

by Piet Geyser, Helena, Willie Snyders all of Sunbake and Van der Linde, Derek

Coetzer, Dudo Tomicic, Coetzer's depot manager from Rustenburg(all of Blue Ribbon)

and the Sunbake bakery managerin Rustenburg, discussions wereheld in relation to the

increase of bread prices in Rustenburg. Coetzer informed the meeting that Blue Ribbon

would be increasing its prices by 20c a loaf on brown bread and 22c (incl. VAT) on white

on 14 August 2006. The Rustenburg bakery manager agreed that he was going to go

with a price increase and that while he would check with his principals he had agreed to

increase his prices about a week after Derek Coetzer intended increasing Blue Ribbon’s

prices.

408. Van der Linde also testified about the ease with which competitors in a particular area

or region could co-ordinate othertrading conditions and metwith relative ease in order to

ensure compliance. He pointed to a meeting in July 2006 held at Gold Reef City.

Present at the meeting were Johan Costhuizen (Sasko GM Aeroton), Ruan (from

Sasko), Mike Vere Russell (BR), Graham Herron (BR) and himself. The meeting was

convenedspecifically to discuss the planned opening of a Sasko depot in Vanderbijlpark.

Mike Vere Russell had raised concerns that Sasko would engage in discounting.

Oosthuizen assured them that Sasko would not do this and would “competefairly” — in

other words it would not compete on the basis of price. Van der Linde explained

excessive discounting was considered to be a form of cheating on their price and zoning

agreements —
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“To compete fairly is your service is correct, your time window is correct as

well as your quality is correct, but you are not competing on a discount

price”.

109. We have already heard how important price competition was in the industry. A

standard loaf of bread is a homogenous product. When a bakeryraisedits prices it ran

the risk of volumeattrition to such an extent that the implementation of such an increase

could become unprofitable. Customers would switch easily to the cheaper product. This

is why employees of the respondents were at pains to ensure that price increases took

place at more or less the sametime and that they exchangedtheir increase letters — not

only to give them comfort that their agreements were in place — but also to prevent

customers from switching to their competitors.

110. Pieterse’s and Van der Linde’s evidence also highlighted the interaction between

regional and nationallevels for all four bakeries. Discussions would emanate among

employeesof the bakeries in a specific region and this intelligence would be fed back to

their principals, who’ were the people that would determine the quantum of the price

increase. The principals would receive information from all regions under their

supervision and would thus have a bird's eye view of the dynamics across the different

regions. In Pioneer's case these discussions would be fed back to Hollenbach, in the

case of the inland region and Louwrensin the coastal regions. These were the people

who reported directly to Goosen and, despite Goosen’s claims to the contrary, were in

fact responsible for recommending when and by how muchprices should be adjusted.

This feedback system also ensured an early warning detection of where and when

cheating was takingplace and to respond swiftly as to protect their volumes.

111. In 2006, price discussions were taking place in various regions and this intelligence

was being fed to their “principals”. In November 2006, Van der Linde was mandated to

implement a price increase of 30c per loaf from 18 December 2006, which we learnt

earlier, was similar in magnitude to the increase being discussed in the Western Cape.

Because this was oneof the biggest increases ever, he was concernedthatif the other

bakeries did not increasetheir prices at more or iess the same time as Blue Ribbon, Blue

 

Ribbon might suffer volume attrition. He called Johan Oosthuizen who undertook to

enquire from Tiger and Sunbake about their increases. Two days later Oosthuizen called

him “confirming that Sasko is going to go on the 18" of December as well as Tiger as

8 Transcript page 284-5

5 see exchange between Goosen and Mr Manoim on why Louwrens was speaking to the pricing issue at Exco

meetings, transcript page 374 onwards. See also Hollenbach email discussedlater.
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' well as Sunbake,also with a 30c increase”. Once again, Oosthuizen wasnot called to

testify and Van der Linde’s evidence stands unchallenged.

112. Whether or not the Western Cape agreement to implement price increases in 2006

was implemented equally in all regions across the country is not entirely clear from the

evidence. However what is clear is that the nature of the agreement in the Western

Capeto increase prices — namely to do so more orless at the same time and agreeing

: not to discount aggressively - was reproduced across other regions. Van der Linde was

| able to confirm that the December 2006price increase agreement had stuck in Gauteng

because they had “not experienced any problems of discounting”.

113. Pioneer, predictably challenged each of those meetings on the basis inter alia that

Sasko was not presentin those discussions or that the Commission was precluded from

prosecuting it under section 67(1). Furthermore under cross examination Mr Newdigate,

relying on Goosen’s table of Sasko’s price increases,”’ attempted to show that Van der

Linde’s evidenceof the price discussion with McCabe was untrue because Sasko hadin

fact not increased prices in 2004. Mr Goosen had also claimed this in his answering

affidavit.

114. Goosen states, under oath, in paragraph 26. 1 of his answering affidavit which also

served as his witness statement —

414.1, “Sasko did not increase its bread prices during 2004”

415. Mr Johan Wentzel Oosthuizen (also referred to as Johan Oosthuizen), whoat the time

of the hearing was the bakery managerof the Aerotonplant, filed a witness statement in

which he remained completely silent on the issue of Sasko’s bread price increases

during 2004.% Recall that this was the same Oosthuizen who had been presentin

meetings with Pieterse and Van der Linde. Mr Gideon Johannes Oosthuizen, the Sasko

depot manager in Klerksdorp from 2002 to 2008,alsofiled an affidavit in confirmation of

Goosen’s answering affidavit. Interestingly this Oosthuizen, “confirms” the contents of

paragraphs 25.1-25.7 and 27.1 of Goosen’s answer, but not paragraph 26, of Goosen’s

eo
answering affidavi Michael James Florence, the bakery manager of Pioneer's

 

Olifantsfontein plantalsofiled a witness statement confirming Goosen’s paragraphs 25.1

°° Transcript page 271
57 Record page 205
58 Record page 327A

* Record page 327f
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-25.7 and 27.1.” He too omits to confirm Goosen’s paragraph 26. Recall that Florenceis

the person who Pieterse claims was present in a meeting during 2003/2004 in which

they agreed on price increases of between 15c and 20c, and on implementation dates.

Johan Oosthuizen’s silence on the issue, as well as Gideon Oosthuizen’s and Florence’s

non-confirmation of Goosen’s paragraph 26 wasnotat all surprising given what emerged

during the course of the Goosen’s cross examination.

416. On 5 August 2004 Hendrik Hollanbach addressed an email to regional and/or bakery

managers. The list included people such as Bester and Gerhard Louwrensin Cape

Town, Johan Oosthuizen in Gauteng, Elize van Dyk in North West, Michael Florence and

other unidentified persons. The email is in Afrikaans. Recall that Hollenbach was the

national sales managerin chargeof the inland region and Louwrens was in chargeofthe

coastal region. Both of them reported directly to Goosen and wereinvolvedin the pricing

 

of Sasko bread. In 2004 Hollenbach signs himself off as the sales manager of Sasko

Gauteng Bakeries. The email reads as follows:

 

Record page 327C
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 CONFIDENTIAL

From: Hotienbach, Hendrik

Sent: 05August 7004 3:24 aM

To: Bester, Louis: Bezuidenhout, Koos; Botha, rane? Burger, Leon; Chiste, Anton, Florence,

pichael; Hoon, Lowwific; Joubert, Jecues; Kieinsmit, Mike; Louvrens,Gerhard; Oosthatzen, Johan;

Schutte, Prater

Cor Cifliars, Pieter; Cloeke, Steven; Crows, Janques; Devies, Wayne; Joost’, Hester: Jooste, Wala:

Luboe, Theo; Oosthuisen, Oosie; Honiball, Ruan; Van Dyk, Elie

Subject: Broat prysverhoging

Hier is che alggmene benaderin gq wat gevolg wid fen opsigie yan die opposisie wat tans besig is met

prysverhogmngs.

» Alhoewel ons nie tans ondo: druk is om dle prys aan te pos nie, sal dit dwaas wees jndien cic

prysverhoging deur die apposisie wel Halieser on ons maak mie ook daurvan gebruik nie.

. in Gauteng het Albany reeds briewe in die mark en hoile haplad om vanat Maandag 9 Augustus

pryse le yernaog.

«Die beginsel van korlings verninder bly egior dis eerste opsie - hierdie poginsel moet vernal aan

—¥ie opposisie miyewys word.

wee Die verhoging geid SLEGSvir die ALGEMENE hanvet en nie vir die Nasionale Kame

(Ketinaicikels, forecourt, inafitusies, erisy me.

«  3aske sal VOLG sodra ons tevrede is dat die prys aan die Kiante wel deur die opposisie verhoog

is,
Fs Elke strock/ bakkery mort

sen die sitvasia In Sy gebiea monitnr en evuluser.

ee Die PROS prys word nie vethoog nic. Weardoar wel pryse vertoog keais wort, mioct dz pp rt

‘eurcherge” basis gedoen word deur elke bakkery-   

Die newe voorptelde prise:

Sasko Sam Vit 500g = f4.26 ink} Bruin = R3.78

Sasko Sam Wit 7009 = R445inkh Scum

=

23.80

Deybreaker en Select \Wil = R4.0¢ inkl «Bruin

=

R395

Bailie en Super SamvA © Re 7S ink Bore = R400

 

 

Die beginsel ts dat *ctangeand” pan prod lied egngevos ifc verbney en ange! van broom mat the,

Kontek gerus indinn dearvr is.

Grocte /Regards

Hendrik Hollenbach

Verkoopsbestuumie
r

Saske Gaiteng Bakkerye

sasko Milling & Gaking @ division & Pioneer Fauds (PY) Lidy

Web page: wwwpioneErfouds
.co7a

Fot +27 145394 zou

Faks: +27 44 494 3202

Bel; 82 770 BSS
E-Pos: hholtenb@pionecrioo

ds.co.Z8

te

117. The email advises the recipients of the general approach that was adopted by Pioneer

at that time in light of the fact that the “opposition” was busy with price increases and

reveals to us severalcritical things. First that Sasko was able to achieve surreptitious
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price increases by reducingthe size or level of discount or through a “surcharge” and not

necessarily by increasingits list price. Second, it provides us with insight into the degree

of co-ordination between Sasko and its competitors regarding price increases of both

standard and pan loavesin both the Western Cape andinland regions. Bakeries across

at least three regions (those that had been identified) were required to monitor and

evaluate their own areas. They would wait to see confirmation of price increase from its

competitors before following with its own increase. Once they had donethat they, above

all else, had to signal Sasko’s decision to go ahead with a price increase through the

reduction of discounts (“hierdie beginse! moet veral aan die opposisie uitgewys word’).

It also reveals that Goosen’s statement, made under oath in paragraph 26 of his

answering affidavit, was a falsehood.

118. Much time was spent by Goosen and his legal team to put the damning provisions of

the email into a positive light. In particular much time was spent on alternative

 

interpretations of the line “Die beginse/ van kortings verminderbly egter die eerste opsie

— hierdie beginsel moet veral aan die opposisie uitgewys word’. Goosen attempted to

distance himself from the implications of this email by claiming that infer alia Sasko did

not increase its fist price. but merely improved its net realisation value through the

manipulation of discounts and that that is what he meant to say under oath,” that he was

unaware of the email at the time that he deposed to his witness statement (also the

answering affidavit) and that he didn’t know for a fact that there had been an actualprice

| increase in the Cape and Gauteng regions andfinally that Mr Hollenbach himself should

be asked about the email. But what was Hollenbach planning to tell this Tribunal?

Nothing much except that the email was an example of information gathering regarding

the oppositions’ actions in respect of price increases.” Nowhere do we see in his

statement a passage dealing with Sasko’s price increases or planned increases in 2004,

nor do we see any confirmation of Goosen’s version of events by Hollenbach, a sales

managerclearly endowed with sufficient authority to instruct bakeries to increase their

prices. Neediess'to say Mr Hollenbach wasnot called totestify.

119. Any speakerof Afrikaans, even a second language oneat that, would understand that

the words “egter” and “moet veral” are used to connote emphasis. “Egter’ means

“notwithstanding” and “veral” means especially, particularly, above all things. In our

7! Net realisation value was described by Goosen as: “you havea list price andfrom thatlist price you have a

discountandthe resultant price that you realise, that you getfor the loaf of bread sold, that is your net

realisation.” Transcript page 532

” Par 2.4 Hollenbach witness statement, English version p502

* See Groot WoordeboekAfrikaans/Engels Kritzinger, Shoonees, Cronje, Eksteen
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view the sentence, read in its context can only mean “notwithstanding anything else (the

circumstances), the reduction of discounts remains the bestorfirst option - above all

things, this must be shown(signalled) to the opposition.”

120. We know from all the evidencein this matter that the basis of competition among the

bakeries was not the actuallist price of their bread but the size of the discount offered to

customers. All customers - whether national chains or independent distributors - were

considered resellers and the difference in pricing between them was the size of the

discount offered. Goosen himself explained to this Tribunal that the net price to

customers was achieved through the manipulation of discounts and surcharges. Yet

whenfaced with the fact of this email he attempts to hide, unconvincingly, behind the fact

that what he meantto say wasthat Pioneerdid not increaseits “list” price in 2004.

121. Goosen’s response, when faced with the fact of this email, that what he had meant to

say in his answering affidivat was that Sasko had not increasedits “list” price, rings

hollow when considered in the context of the proceedings. We knowthat at the very

least Pioneer's legal team would have been sensitive to the problem created by Gideon

Oosthuizen’s and Michael Florence’s confirmatory affidavits. If Sasko had notincreased

its prices in 2004, as Goosen had maintained, it would have been reasonable to assume

that Mr Johan Oosthuizen, the GM of Aeroton and Michael Florence, the managerof the

Olifantsfontein bakery, two of the recipients of the email, and Hollenbach the author of

the email, all of them endowed with some authority in the pricing decisions of Sasko,

would have known this fact and could have confirmed it. Moreover Gideon Oosthuizen,

in his position as depot manager and Florence as bakery manager, would also have

known for a fact whether or not these price increases had been implemented. Hence

there would have been no need for them to specifically exclude Goosen’s paragraph 26

from the ambit of their confirmatory affidavits. Indeed there would have been no need for

Johan Oosthuizen and Hollenbach to remain silent on the issue in their witness

statements. And there would have been no need for Pioneer's legal team to keep these

witnesses from testifying. Recall that Pioneer had been assisted by lawyers in this

matter from as early as the Roup letter and from the commencement of the

Commission's investigation. One can expectthat ail the witnesses scheduledto testify in

 

the matter had been consulted and assisted by the legal team. The implications of

Gideon Oosthuizen’s and Florence’s pointed refusal to confirm Goosen’s paragraph 26

and Johan Oosthuizen’s and Hollenbach’s silence on the issue of price increases in

2004 could not have escaped Pioneer's legal team or even Goosen himself. The

responses of these four men to Goosen’s claim in his paragraph 26 are perfectly
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understandable if one has regard to the import of the email. The email clearly deals with

an effective price increase and not some vague netrealisation strategy put forward by

Goosen. Firstly the subject matter of the email is “Brood prysverhoging’. The matter is

more clearly spelt outin thefirst line of the email which refers to Sasko's approachin the

context of the opposition’s price increases, It also contemplates a possible increase of

prices by the imposition of a surcharge.

i 122. We also know that by the time Goosen took the stand he was aware of the email but

both he and Pioneer's legal team chose notto bring this to the attention of the Tribunal.

Instead we see thatin his evidencein chief, he persisted in the claim, that Sasko had not

increased its prices, notits list price, in 2004 -

"ADV NEWDIGATE: Mr Goosen we are at paragraph 7 of your witness

statement, page 469 of the pleadings, which deals with price increases

since 2003. You refer there to a table in your affidavit | take youto thatit is

at page 204 of the pleadings. And there you set out in table form the

increases of Sasko since 2003 and then your understanding of the

increases of competitors, whether they did or whetherthey didn't act about

that time is that correct?

MR GOOSEN:Thatis correct yes.

ADV NEWDIGATE: So what you say there speaks foritself, but perhaps | can

just ask youthis in general terms, it appears from yourtable that sometimes

competitors, which | include Sasko went up at or about the same time and

sometimes they didn’t is that correct?

MR GOOSEN:Thatis correct that is what...

[Talking simultaneously]

MRGOOSEN:Yes.

ADV _NEWDIGATE: So, for example, if you look at September 2004

competitors in your understanding went up but Sasko didn’t?

 

MR GOOSEN:Thatis correct we didn't have a price increase in 2004,""4

™ transcript page 361-2
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423. We find Goosen’s subsequent explanation - that what he meantto say in his affidavit

was that Pioneer did notincreaseits list price - as another falsehood in the face of his

own evidence, and accordingly regard his actions once again as an attempt to mislead

the Tribunal.

424. Whether or not Goosen choseto mislead this Tribunal of his ownvolition or was asked

to protect other persons in the organisation is not clear to us. Whatis clear to us is that

Goosen’s lack of credibility as a witness was put beyond doubt. 78 Given this, we place

no reliance on his or his counsel's attempts to interpret Hollenbach’s words. More so

when Hollenbach the author of the email, who was scheduledto testify, and could have

explained his own words, was not called. The contents of the email are therefore taken

at face value.

425. We now know that Sasko did intend to increase its prices in 2004. We also know how

it set out to do so — by reducing discounts and imposing surcharges. We canalsoinfer

from Gideon Oosthuizen’s and Florence’s non—confirmation of Goosen’s paragraph 26

that Sasko did in fact increaseits prices in 2004. We also knowthatit did so despite the

fact that it was not under pressure to increaseits prices but agreed to go along with the

increases in co-ordination with its competitors. This fact puts into serious question

Pioneer's assertions that all the bakeries would face similar margin constraints in the

face of an increasein the price of input costs. Here is a clear statement by Pioneer that

in spite of the fact that it was not under pressure to do so,it had elected to increaseits

prices in co-ordination with its competitors. We also know from Pieterse and Van der

Linde that Sasko employees engaged in price discussions with them, even where they

were not present in meetings, that other bakeries had increased their prices in 2004 and

that they were of the view that Sasko had also done the same. But even if, for

argument’s sake, Sasko had not actually increased its prices in 2004 or was able to do

so unevenly across the regions or was not able to implementin all regions at the same

time, the fact that it had intended to do so in co-ordination with its competitors and had

declared itself of that intention is sufficient for us to conclude that an agreement or

concerted practice was in existence among the four bakeries for purposes of section

4(1)(b)(i). That Sasko may in fact have been able to do so is merely proof of

implementation of that agreement.

* See also 495 where he says that the email is addressed to bakery managers in Gauteng and Cape Town. Yet

wesee that the email is also addressed to Ms Pieterse of the North Westregion.
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426. We also know from Pieterse and Van der Linde, whose evidence stands unchallenged,

that Sasko had concluded agreements with the other bakeries in relation to price

increases and customerallocation during the period 2003 - 2006.

127. As far as the applicability of section 67(1) to Sasko’s conductin August 2004 is

concerned, recall that the Commission hadinitiated its investigation into the national

complaint in February 2007. This would suggest that section 67(1) has no application to

this conduct. If however Pioneer wished to rely on it, if and not the Commission, was

required to allege and prove that this conduct in fact had ceased. No evidence,in the

form of documents such as minutes, business plans, salesor distribution figures or even

in the form of Mr Hollenbach or Mr Oosthuizen was led by Pioneer to discharge such

onus.

Conclusion on inland/national

428. Wefind that Pioneer, Tiger Brands, Premier and Foodcorp had actedin contravention

of section 4(1)(b)(i) and (ii). In the first instance they had done so by agreeing to a

division of markets during 4999-2001, which in our view still persists. This agreement

extended to at least the Southern Gauteng, Free State, North West and Mpumalanga.

On the basis of the evidence put before us wefind that the agreement had also extended

 

inte the Mpumalanga/Limpoporegion. As for the price increases in 2004, Pioneer's own

documents show its clear intention to increase its bread prices in 2004 in co-ordination

with its competitors. The evidence of Van der Linde and Pieterse support the conclusion

that it had in fact done so. The failure of Pioneer's Hollenbach, Johan Oosthuizen,

Gideon Oosthuizen and Florence to support Goosen suggests that this was indeed so.

In July 2006, Pioneer agreedwith its competitors not to compete on price (discounts) in

the Vanderbijipark area. In 2006 Pioneer also agreed to increase its bread prices at the

same time and at moreorless the same magnitude in co-ordination with its competitors

in the Gauteng region. It also agreed to customerallocation with its competitors. Even

though Pioneer's employees were not present in all the meetings referred to by

witnesses and may not have been presentin all the discussions, there was clearly an

 

overall agreement or understanding among Pioneer, Tiger, Premier and Foodcorp in

relation to the bread industry in the inland region which led to agreements on price

increases, territorial divisions, customer allocation and other trading conditions in

contravention of section 4(1)(b). Accordingly we have no hesitation in finding that

Pioneer had contravened sections 4(1)(b)(i) and (if) in the inland region or in that part of
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the country excluding the Western Cape, over a period of time from as far back as 1999

to date. The agreementin relation to the Western Cape might have prevailed for a

shorter period than the agreement in other parts of the country, but that is a matter of

duration, not guilt.

129. Accordingly we makethefollowing findingsin relation to the iniand/national referral —

129.1. From 1999 to date, Premier Foods, Tiger Brands, Pioneer and Foodcorp were

parties to an agreement in terms of which they divided markets amongst

themselves in the South Gauteng, Free State, North West and Mpumalanga

regions;

129.2. Between 2003 and 2004, Pioneer, Foodcorp and Premier Foods:

129.2.1. fixed the selling price of bread and the dates by which the said prices

were to be implemented;

129.2.2. entered into a “gentlemen’s agreement” in terms of which they

resolved that during the period of bread price increases, they would not allow

customers to switch suppliers in order to benefit from any differences in the

prices provided by each supplier;

129.2.3. agreed not to poach one another's customers;

129.3. During July 2006, Pioneer, Premier and Tiger Brands agreed to fix trading

conditions in that they agreed not to compete on price in the Vanderbijlpark area;

and

129.4, During November 2006, Pioneer, Premier and Tiger Brands,fixed the selling

price of bread by agreeing to increase the said price by 30c perloaf in Gauteng with

effect from 18 December 2006.

Relief

430. We turn now to considerthe relief sought by the Commission.

431. The Commission in the Western Cape complaintinitially requested the Tribunaifor the

following order against Pioneer Foods:
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A. Declaring that the respondents have entered into an agreement or engagedin

a concertedpractice in that their conductinvolves the direct andindirectfixing

of a selling price and other trading conditions in contravention of section

4(1)(b)(and(ii) of the Act;

B. Directing the respondents to desist from such conduct;

C. Levying an administrative penalty on each of the first and second

respondents of 10% oftheir annual turnoverfor the 2006financial year in the

marketfor the production and sale of bread in the Western Cape;

D. For such furtheroralternative relief as the Tribunal may consider appropriate.

132. With regard to the Inland/National complaint it sought the following:

A. For an order declaring that the respondents have entered into an agreement

or engaged in a concerted practice in that their conduct involvesthe direct or

indirectfixing of a selling price and other trading conditions in contravention of

sections 4(1)(b){i) and (i) of the Act;

B. For an orderdirecting the respondents to desist from such conduct;

C. For an orderlevying an administrative penalty on each ofthe first and second

respondents of 10% oftheir annual turnover for the 2006/7 financial year;

D. For such further or alternative relief as the Tribunal may consider appropriate.

133. Pioneer on the other hand asked us to adopt a piece-meal approach and to impose a

penalty uponit only in relation to the Western Cape referral arguing that this should not

exceed 2.25% of Sasko’s (bread division) 2006 turnover for the Western Cape. In the

course of the proceedings the Commission indicated that it intended to amend its

prayers and would seek a penalty of 10% of Pioneer’s total group turnover and not only

on its baking division in the Western Cape. The Tribunal issued a directive to the

Commission:

4. If the Commission wishes to amend the terms of prayer A ofits

pleadings in the Western Cape complaint as well as the National

complaintit mustfile the amended draft by no later than 28 September

2009. The respondent will be entitled to make written submissions in

respect of the amended prayers A by no later than 2 October 2009
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2. if the Commission wishes to amend Prayer C ofits Western Cape

referral it must bring an application to do so by no later than 28

September 2009. In the event of such an application the respondent

must file its answer by no later than 2 October 2009. If the

Commission wishes to reply thereto it must do so by nolater than 7

October 2009.

3. The Tribunal will not require any further hearing unless the parties

insist on an oral hearing of the amendmentapplication. Any party may

file written legal arguments in respect of the amendment application,

providedit does so on or before 10 October 2009 and provided further

that such submissions are addressedsolely to new issues occasioned

by the amendmentand not to any issue already traversed already in

written and oral argument before the Tribunal.

434. The Commission did file its amended relief. By way of summary the Commission’s

amendments sought to stipulate the contraventions in more detail and sought an

administrative penalty of 10% of Pioneer's entire annual turnover in the Republic, (not

only on the production and sale of bread) for the 2006 financial year for each complaint.

in the alternative it sought a penalty of 10% of Pioneer’s national bread sales for each

complaint.

135. Pioneer Foods’total turnover for 2006 was approximately R7 859 739 593. Its national

sales for the bread and baking division (Sasko) in 2006 amounted to R1 981 407 170.

We understoodthat, in effect, the Commission was now seeking a penalty, for the two

referrals taken together, ranging from R1,57bn to R396m.”

136. Pioneer as can be expected opposed the Commission’s amendedrelief.

137. We have decided against adopting the Commission’s proposal of a penalty calculated

on Pioneer's group turnover. Nor have we adopted the piece meal approach presented

to us by Pioneer. Had we followed the latter approach, Pioneer would be facing a

maximum penalty of 10% in respect of each occasion when it was found to be in

 

contravention of the Act. Because of the approach adopted byusin relation to remedy

below, there is no need for us to grant the Commission's application for amendment of

its relief. In our view our findings in relation to the contraventions of the Act, and the

78 50% of R7 859 739 593 to 20% of R1981 407 170. In the Tiger and Foodcorpconsent orders the Commission

requested a single fine based on national bakery turnover.
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penalty imposed by us would be appropriate alternative relief under the Commission’s

original prayer D.

138. By and large the relief sought by the Commission, in both referrals was the same. It

sought an order declaring the respondent's conduct to be in contravention of section

4(1)(b)(i) and (ji), sought the imposition of an administrative penalty and sought a cease

and desist order.

Section 59

139. Sections 58 — 60 governthe orders that may be granted by this Tribunal. The decision

of this Tribunal to impose an administrative penalty is clearly an exerciseofits discretion.

In terms of section 59(1)(a), this Triounal may impose an administrative penalty on first

 

offences under section 4(1)(b). When imposing such a penalty the Tribunal must

however have regard to the factors listed in section 59(3)(a) — (g). In terms of section

59(2), such penalty may not exceed 10% of the firm’s annual turnover in the Republic

and its exports from the Republic during hte firms’ preceding financial year. The

provisions of section 59(2)limit the percentage ofthe fine to be imposed to 10%.

140. In order to determine a penalty one mustfirst determine the base turnover to which the

relevant percentage is to be applied. While section 59(2) clearly specifies that the

penalty may be imposed on the the firm’s annual turnover in the Republic, including its

exports the Tribunal has in practice calculated such penalty on the basis of “affected

turnover” ie that portion of the turnover of the firm derived from the product market in

which it was found to be act anti-competitively.

141. In Federal Mogul’’ the Tribunal stated that for the purpose of that case it chose to

exercise its discretion in favour of the first respondent and based the threshold on the

turnoverin the infringing line of business only.” This because attimes “the restrictive

practice may have norelationship to the firm’s total annual turnover as the relationship

between the contravention and the total business to which that turnover may be

5 attributed may be remote”. Conceivably this would be because companies often do

business in more than one product market and it would be appropriate to correlate the

”” Competition Commission v Federal MogulofSouth Africa (Pty} Ltd and Others [2003] 2 CPLR 464 (CT)
78

Par 172
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penalty to that companies’ attempts to extendits market power through anti-competitive

arrangementsin that particular product market. ”°

142. While the Tribunal has followed this approach in all subsequent cases involving

administrative penalties, it has cautioned that this does not meanthat the statute does

not permit of imposing a penalty on the firm’s total turnover.®° The language of the

statute is clear — it includes the firm’s total annual turnover in the Republic includingits

exports and in appropriate cases one can expectthat the Tribunal would impose such a

penalty. An exercise of the Tribunal’s discretion nevertheless must always be rational

and justifiable. There is no numerus clausus of circumstances in which the Tribunal can

be expected to exercise its discretion in favour of a fine calculated on

a

firm’s total

annual turnover but one can anticipate that there should be some evidence to show that

a firm’s monopolisation efforts through anti-competitive conduct in one product market

conferred or tended to confer onto it some leverage in another product market whichit

otherwise would not have had. For example if there was evidence to show that the

closure of bakeries, while output limiting in the bread industry, also conferred some

advantage to Pioneer in the milling or packaging industry (assumingit had aninterest

there) it would be permissible to calculate the penalty on the basis of the total turnover.

However we have no such evidencein this case and would therefore hesitate to extend

the calculation of the penalty beyond Pioneer’s bread and bakery division. This is not to

say that the offences committed by Pioneer are not considered by us to be the most

egregiousin anti-trust law.

143. In Competition Commission v Federal Mogul Aftermarket, 5 the Tribunal identified

deterrence as the primary purpose of the imposition of administrative penalties and that

“the deterrence elements must have somerelationship to the harm inflicted by the

prohibited practice”. In the Tribunal’s view:

“By way of example a hard-core cartel in a significant area of commerce andin the

investigation of which parties have refused to co-operate with the authorities may

well attract the maximum penalty.”

144. In Competition Commission v South African Airways, the Tribunal developed its

 

approachto the imposition of administrative penalties by according relative weightings to

78 Competition Commission v South African Airways para 273
®° Federal Mogul par 171
a [2003] 2 CPLR 464{T) at 166

®2 19005] 2 CPLR 303 (CT)
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each of the factors contained in section 59(3). The Tribunal allocated for example a

relative weighting of 3% to the nature, duration and gravity of the offence, 1% for loss or

damage as a result of the contravention, 1% to the levelof profit derived, 1% to market

circumstances and 1% to previous contraventions. That matter was concerned with an

abuse of dominance undersection 8 (d)(i) alternatively 8(c) of the Act.

145. However, the Tribunal emphasised that the method employed by it in that case was a

guideline and was notintended tofetter the discretion of the Tribunal. Moreover there

was a need to draw meaningful distinctions between the various types of contraventions.

The purpose of section 59(3) after all was to look for aggravating and mitigating

circumstances so as to strike a proper balance between deterrence and over-

enforcement. The Tribunal cautioned that while it had attempted to iend rationality to the

calculation of the penalty:

"It is our view that the size of the administrative penalty be argued and

determined with as much attention to evidence and rational arguments as the

merits of the case itself and, to this extent, at least the approach adopted here

is intended to act as guideline for the future. However, further experience

with the Act mayindicate that either the weightings are inappropriate or that

we have not exhaustively consideredall the factors that may exist.

146. The Competition Appeal Court in Federal Mogul (REF) found that section 59 “sets out

i the bare fundamentals of a framework for determining the amount of the administrative

penalty’ and that the Triounal is expected to exercise its discretion judiciously having

regard to the factors in 59(3).

147. In other words, the purpose of section 59(3) is to provide guidelines to the Tribunal

 

whenit exercisesits discretion in terms of 59(2). The Tribunal must look to see whether

there are aggravating and mitigating factors, and assessing those with the view to

striking a balance between deterrence and over-enforcement. These factors must be

weighedin relation to each other and must be assessed in the specific circumstances of

each case and in the context of the nature of the contravention. The provisions of

x section 59(3) do not require this Tribunal to create a formula by which administrative

penalties are to be imposed, nor do they seek to fetter the discretion of the Tribunal.

While we must lookat all the factors in section 59(3) we are not required to approach

these mechanistically. Rather we are required to apply our minds and adjudicate factors

par 341ff
34 bar 343
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presentin a case in relation to each other. This does not mean that every factor will be

present in each case or that the same factors will bear the same weight in relation to

each other in every case. it may be for example that in a particular section 8 case, the

behaviour of the respondent is so outrageous that it requires the highest possible

sanction or, perhaps in a resale price maintenance case, that the conduct of the

respondents was such as to weigh heavily in mitigation. Each case must be assessed

on its own merits.

148. Hence one can anticipate that in hard core cartels, as compared to offences under

section 8(c), some factors would weigh much more heavily than others. Hard core

cartels, as contemplated in section 4(1)(2) of the Act are per se offences. There is no

need for the Commission to show any anti-competitive effects and there are no

justification grounds available to respondents. So egregious an offenceis this, that harm

to competition and harm to consumers is presumed by its mere existence. Moreover

the extent of loss suffered or damage caused is presumed to be extensive.

449. Furthermore, an agreement or understanding to fix prices or divide markets contains

within it so unambiguous an intention that one can infer that respondents knowingly and

deliberately participated in these activities. We are not dealing here with case of

exclusionary conduct of the kind where a respondent might not have appreciated at the

time ofits occurrencesthatit could constitute a contravention section 8(c) or 5 of the Act.

This is conduct that has no other objective — namely, through co-ordination with one’s

competitors, to limit competition, to restrict output and to achieve the highest possible

rents.

150. Itis trite law in competition jurisdictions and accepted by scholars in economicsthat:

“Collusive practices allow firms to exert market power they would otherwise

not have, and artificially restrict competition and increase prices, thereby

reducing welfare” **°

151. Hence our approach to hard core cartel activities is that respondents engaging in such

activities, absent any mitigating circumstances, deserve the maximum penalty provided

for in the Act. Such an approach would not be in contradiction to that followed by the

European Commission. In its guideline on the method ofsetting fines in antitrust cases

% motta, Competition Policy Theory and Practice page 137

88 Ec Guidelines published in the Official Journal of the European Union dated 1 September 2006
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the EC. indicates that its main objective in imposingfines is to deterfirms from engaging

in anticompetitive conduct and in doing so it will have regard to the value of sales to

which the infringement relates and the gravity and duration of the infringement. With

regard to cartels the Guidelines also create a mechanism of a so-called “entry fee’.

According to this mechanism the simple fact that a companyentersinto a cartel will cost

the guilty company 15-25% ofits annual sales in the relevant sector because:

“Horizontal price-fixing, market sharing and output-limitation agreements,

which are usually secret, are, by their very nature, among the most harmful

restrictions of competition, As a matter of policy, they will be heavily fined.

Therefore, the proportion of the value of sales taken into account for such

infringements will generally be set at the higher endofthe scale.”

152. We turn to consider the factors listed in section 59(3). Because the evidenceof the

two referrals has been presented to us in one consolidated hearing, for ease of

convenience we have considered the factors listed in sec 59(3) together. By and large

the considerations, such as market circumstances, gravity of the contravention,

behaviour of the respondent, would be the samefor both referrals. Where necessary we

have differentiated between the tworeferrals.

Nature, gravity and duration

153. When we considerthe evidence placed before usin its totality what we see from all

these accounts, is a culture of co-operation so entrenched in the daily operations of

these four companies that their employees, in full knowledge of the unlawfuiness of

these arrangements, had nodifficulty in reproducing it all levels. They met regularly,

they called each other frequently, they asked the one to call the other, they agreed on

implementation dates for their increases, they exchanged increase letters to give each

other comfort, they divided markets at both a national level and at a local level, they

monitored each other's compliance and had no hesitation in enforcing their illegal

arrangements under the guise of “fairness”. We can infer from their decisions to close

bakeries and their adherence to “zoning” arrangements that they intended their co-

ordination to extend to all parts of the country. We see that even where they were

 

unable to implement a co-ordinated price increase in a particular region for some or

other reason, they continued in their endeavours to co-ordinate rather than compete.

While regional differences may have influenced whether or not an agreement would stick

over time, such as in the Western Cape, the conduct of the employees of all four

bakeries was the same, replicated across all regions Wesee in the evidenceled in both
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the complaints, the links between the inland and coastal regions, effected through people

endowedwith national authority and who brought suchintelligence and experience to the

discussions.

154. We see for example, that during 2004, price increase discussions and agreements

took place in both Gauteng and the North West. During this time attempts were made

by Lavery to strike an agreement with Goosen. Hollenbach’s email confirms that the

intended co-ordination wasnotlimited to one region only. We see the samepattern in

2006 where similar agreements were struck in both the Western Cape and the inland

region where bread prices were increased at more or less the same time and by more or

less the same amount. We see Dudo Tomicic, of Premier meeting with the inland

bakeries and with Goosen in the Western Cape. We see Goosen meeting with Tomicic

and Eugene Beneke, all national figures. Furthermore, intelligence of competitors’

 

activities fed up to Goosen was not limited to a specific region ~ he obtained and

requested information from both Hollenbach (inland) and Louwrens (coastal) at the same

time. ©”

155. |twas common causethat notall of the bakeries were represented at all the meetings.

Howeverall of them understood, and demonstrated this unequivocally, that they needed

and indeed were requiredto rely on their competitors for their profits. Both Pieterse and

Van der Linde displayed their knowledge ofthe history of collusion. Both understood this

to exist at a national level. This knowledge was shared by Lavery, Ford and Donovan.

Even Goosen, as much as he unconvincingly attempted to distance himself from it, had

knowledge of national arrangements at the highest level. Not a single employee of

these bakeries was shownor heard to act differently.

156. Where did this conduct emanate from? It could only emanate from a culture of co-

| operation, no doubt inherited from the regulatory history of the industry, among the four

bakeries, reaching back in time. An understanding which, because of the nature of the

industry with its multitude of resellers required regional and local co-ordination and

implementation. A culture known to the highest ranking official with authority to set

prices, downto the foot soldiers ,passed down from generation to generation, its overall

1 objective being to orchestrate co-ordination wherever possible across the country. Over

time it manifested itself in discrete and various forms, from the formalised and permanent

division of markets in early 2001, to customerallocation and to several price increases

during the period 2003 to 2006. And is the case with all long term relationships, their's

®’ transcript pages 581, 583 and 585
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was marked by occasional moments of disharmony. Now and then someone cheated

and another retaliated, at times the internal profitability objectives of oneled it to behave

aggressively, at times the desire to satisfy internal performance anxieties or to off-load

excess capacity led to a prolonged separation. For example the acrimony in the Western

Capelasted for a longerperiod of time due to its own supply and/or capacity issues. The

Western Cape has its own wheat crop and different considerations were at play In the

cartel discussions.

157. However an occasional breach did notdissipate this culture. While they disagreed and

the level of acrimony was high, they still endeavoured to repair the relationship. They

continued because, despite their differences, they understood that co-ordination rather

i than competition satisfied their greed for profit and desire for a comfortable life.

158. We have already stated our views on the nature and gravity of the offences under

 

consideration. Section 4(1)(b) violations are the most serious violations of competition

law and are condemned across the world. Naked cartel behaviouris notjustifiable under

our legislation and is presumptively harmful. in this particular case, the offences are

i more so repugnant because they have affected the poorest of the poor, for whom

standard bread is a staple. While its conduct in the Western Cape may have been of

short duration, its conductin the inland region persisted for a much longerperiod of time.

Moreover the closure of bakeries resulted in a permanent removal of capacity in the

territories covered by their agreementto divide markets.

159. Pioneer accepts that it ought to be sanctioned. Howeverit pleads that the agreement

among the four bakeries in the Western Cape waslimited in both content and duration.

The Commission however argues that the only reason why the agent’s commissions

agreement was of short duration was because Pioneer had been forced to terminateit

once it had received the Roupletter. But for this letter Pioneer would have continued

with its conspiracy as evidenced by Goosen’s response to the DeVilliers email and the

attempted cover-up. We see no positive evidence from Pioneer that it had distanced

itself from this conduct. We agree with the Commission that Pioneer’s conduct suggests

that but for the Roupletter and the subsequentinvestigation by the Commission, Pioneer

 

would have persisted with its conspiracy and had not voluntary ceasedit. This was also

not a case where a company was engagingin conductthatit had erroneously believed to

be lawful at the time but which subsequently was found to be anti-competitive.®* In this

 

88 the European Court of Justice has confirmed that the effect of an anti-competitive practice is not a always a

conclusive criterion for assessing the proper amountofa fine. Factors relating to the intentional aspect may be

moresignificant than those relating to the effects, particularly where they relate to infringements which are
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case Pioneer had pleadedits guilt and the members of the conspiracy all demonstrated

that they were aware that there agreements were unlawful. Termination of anti-

competitive practices as a result of being found out in such circumstances is not a

mitigating circumstance.

Loss or damage as a result of the contravention

160. We have already indicated that the damage to competition by Pioneer’s conduct

caused harm to consumersin the form of higher prices, less choice andinferior services.

Furthermore one must have regard to the fact that the product market pertains to a

staple food for millions of South Africans, especially the poorest of the poor and any

increases in prices would have a disproportionate impact on this sector. While we

cannot determine the total or quantify the extent of the damage accurately, the result of

this was that the poorest of all South Africans paid more for their bread than any other

person. Thefixing of agents’ commissions and the agreement not to poach agenisin the

Western Cape led to higher costs of distribution into the informal sector and eliminated

the negotiating power, if any, of these agents. The loss and damage to competition

caused by the contravention in the inland region was likely to be greater due to the

permanent nature of the bakeries’ market division agreement. Moreover the

consequencesof closing bakeries were notlimited to the urban areas but stretched into

the rural areas. As stated by Pieterse —

160.1. “The fact that there wasn’t an Albany bakery operating in our area, it means

that there wasn’t any Albany bread that you couldfind in the Northwestrural area,

the informaltrade.” ©

161. The level of profit derived by Pioneer has already been alluded to above. While the

cartel arrangements differed both in content and location, we have found that the

conductof the respondentsin the inland region persisted for a longer period of time. The

evidence in relation to the Limpopo/Mpumalanga was scanty but given the history oftheir

behaviour, the likelihood that the bakeries colluded in that region and otherinland parts

of the country was high.

Behaviour of the respondent

162. There is no question that Pioneer's conduct in this matter leaves much to be desired.

When Goosenreceived the email from De Villiers he did not even bother to enquire from

 

intrinsically serious, such as price fixing and market sharing.(Case C-194/99 P Thyssen Stahl v Commission

[2003] ECR I-10821, PAR 118)

"2 Transcript page 314-5
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Bester and Patience what the allegations were based on nor did he launch an

investigation into the allegations. His response that he “did not suspect it at all” rings

hollow in the face of his own admission, and his knowledge that the bakeries had been

involved in unlawful market division arrangements (National complaint) and his own

conduct when he met with senior employees of Blue Ribbon and Albany in 2005,

Furthermore even after the Commission's initiation of the complaint, Pioneer did not

conducta full enquiry or investigation in orderto root out this behaviourin its companyor

to bring to book anyof the individuals involved. Upto the date of the hearing no action

had been taken against any of the employees implicated in this conduct. When it

eventually did conduct aninvestigation it concealed the outcome of this by cloaking it in

the claim oflitigation privilege.

Market circumstances

 

163. The Commission summarised the market conditions at the time of the price increase in

December 2006 as very negative. Wheat prices had gone up by 34%, plant bakeries

were having difficulty sustaining their price increases because of significant discounting

activity that was taking place, Aloany bakeries’ two plants were running at substantial

losses and Sasko, which was starting to suffer margin contraction as a result of

discounting activity byits rivals, was still recovering from an earlier strike in September.

All in all as Goosen testified when he received Hollenbach’s email on 4 December

2006:

“When this was sent fo me, | then realised that we can move ourprice

increase forward, because we neededa price increase desperately in terms

of our input costs...”

164. Pioneer argued that because bread is a homogenous product any increase in prices of

the principal drivers of cost, i.e. flour, fuel and labour would have a similar impact onall

producers. Moreover, because bread producers for the most part supply to the same

customers whowill very quickly inform their suppliers of what competitors are doing the

tendency towards similar timing of increases is enhanced. The cost of an ill-considered

price increase, and one that does not take sufficient account of the behaviour of

 

competitors, can be high. With this background in mindit argued, partly as denialof the

offence andpartly in mitigation, that it was understandable whyall the producers were

increasing their bread prices in December when the wheat price increased dramatically.

Furthermore,in light of these sharp increasesin input costs, there was a need to reduce

°° Transcript page 594
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the commission of R1.20 per bread to independentdistributors. While we accept that

wheat prices may have increased sharply during that time, we do not accept the

submission that because all four bakeries have similar input costs such as flour, oil,

labour and transport,their overall cost structure was the sameor that they were equally

efficient rivals. Each bakery was operationally unique with its own internal production

and management processes. While all of them may have needed to increase their

prices in the face of higher wheatprices, there is nothing to suggest that an increase of

more orthe less the same magnitude was needed for each of them. In fact Pioneeritself

has demonstrated this difference in 2004 when it elected to increaseits prices in co-

ordination with its competitors in circumstances whenit was not underpressure to do so.

Moreover one would expect an effective competitor, in the face of these challenges, to

i embark on a range of cost saving initiatives. It might be true that Pioneer may have

needed the increase in order to maintain its margins. Howeverthis does not serve to

justify it breaking the law by agreeing to do so in co-ordination with its competitors.

The level of profit

165. According to Pioneer there is no evidence quantifying any profit it might have gained

from the December agreements. However, the Commission argues that whiist it is not

possible to derive the precise level of profit gained by Pioneer Foods from the

contravention, Pioneer’s own discovered documents suggestthatit did make a profit, the

main objective in entering into the unlawful agreements and the fixing of trading

conditions. In his December 2006 Monthly Report, Goosen reported as follows about the

Decemberprice increase:*"

“The price increase (average 35c per loaf) in the general trade on 18

December resulted in a net realisation per loaf increase from R3,69 to

R3,80...”

and in the same Report:

“The price increase that was pushed through to the general trade in

December helped with Bakeries achieving its profit targets for the month,

 

despite lower than anticipated volumes”

468. Goosen’s observations are precisely whatcartels are about. As Monti points out in his

press statementreferred to above:

 

51 trial bundle volume 2 page 484
% trial bundle volume 2 page 485
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“Cartels, therefore, by their very nature eliminate or restrict competition.

Companies participating in a cartel produce less and earn high profits,

Society and consumers paythebill.”

167. We agree with the Commission's observations. Firms collude in order to reach an

outcome with the highest possible price, a price higher than some competitive

benchmark, for no other reason. This pecuniary gain is exactly what is borne out by

Pioneer's remarks in its report as quoted.

The degree to which the respondent has co-operated with the Competition Commission

and the Competition Tribunal

168. The Commission argues that Pioneer Foods has not co-operated with the

Commission, choosing instead to litigate this matter to the last. Pioneer submits thatit

is entitled to defend itself. That Pioneer Foods is entitled to defend itself is not

contentious. However the manner in which a respondent conducts its case and the

extent to whichit is willing to waste scarce state resources must be taken into account

when assessing the degree of its co-operation with the Tribunal. In this case, the entire

defence has been mounted on the basis of manifest falsehoods. Moreover, these were

no ordinary falsehoods. They did not involve the ‘mere’ distortion of a particular fact.

They rather involved the construction of an elaborate explanation for the manner in

which the increase was decided upon, an explanation that was patently false and

contrived. Moreoverit failed to co-operate with this Tribunal by not leading witnesses

who were actually present in those meetings and who had been scheduled to testify,

such as Patience. We believe that successive layers of Pioneer's management,

reaching up to Goosen at least, were involved in concocting these elaborate falsehoods.

Despite the fact that its case was so exposed ~ and despite Goosen himself admitting to

his lying under oath®to this Tribunal - and even after conceding that it had conciuded

an agreement in contravention of section 4(1)(b)(I) and (ii) Pioneer persisted with its

denial as to the scopeofits agreement in the Western Cape. Had the concession of the

Wester Cape meetings come earlier, valuable time and resources of both the

Commission and the Tribunal would have been saved. Had truth followed concession

 

we might have adopted a more sympathetic view ofits behaviour. In our view Pioneer's

conduct and that of its employees warranted no mitigation. Its attitude towards the

Commission and the Tribunal was in respectof the inland region was again one of non-

co-operation if not downright disdainful. Once again we see a case constructed on

% Transcript page 660 and 661
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falsehoods uttered by its most senior employee Goosen. Witnesses who could be of

some assistance to the Tribunal and who were scheduled to testify such as Mr

Hollenbach were not called. As it stands we consider Pioneer's conduct in our

proceedings, in the circumstances of this case, as an aggravating and not a neutral

factor.

Whetherthe respondent has previously been found in contravention of the Act

469, The Commission submitted that whilst Pioneer Foods had not previously been found in

contravention of the Act, the section 4(1)(b) contravention offends the fundamental and

most widely understood tenets of competition law and Pioneer cannot rely on sub-

section §9(3) as a meansof mitigating the pénalty. The legislature has madeit plain that

it regards hard core cartels in so serious a light that it permits of no justification. On

Pioneer’s ownversionit had contravened the Act several times. Howeverit had sought,

unsuccessfully to rely on a defence under section 67(1).

170. We have given due consideration to the fact that Pioneer has not previously been

found in contravention of the Actin relation to the other factors. While Pioneer may not

have been previously prosecutedin this forum,on its own versionit had contravened the

Act on several occasions and overa prolonged period of time. Moreoverit had done so

in full knowledge of the unlawfulnessofits actions. Its conduct, repeated yearafter year,

was deliberate with a clearly articulated purpose. In our view the fact that is has not

i been prosecuted before this moment, weighed against the gravity and duration of the

offence in this case, does not serve as a mitigating factor.

Conclusion on remedy

171. In considering all of the factors listed above together we find that Pioneer has not

made out a case for any leniency whatsoever. Arguably we might have reached the

same conclusion in respect of Pioneer’s conspirators, Tiger Brands and Foodcorp, had

they elected to oppose the Commission’s referrals. But both Tiger and Foodcorp elected

 

not do so. Both provided information to the Commission, agreed to a penalty and to the

implementation of compliance programmesin their organisations. By doing so they also

elected to keep away: from the public eye the embarrassing details and duration of their

conspiracy. Pioneer on the other elected to placeitself in the public spotlight, submitted

itself to cross-examination and in so doing revealed for all to see the details of a long

standing conspiracy. In this process it also demonstratedits willingness to construct a
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case based on falsehoods and misleading tactics. Its lack of co-operation with the

agencies and the fact that to date it has not taken disciplinary action against, at date of

hearing, a single person involved in these contraventions all count againstit.

172. We accordingly believe that the company should be subject to the highest penalty that

the Tribunal is entitled to levy. However we accept for purposes of imposing a penalty ,

that the evidence supports a conclusion that the Western Cape contraventions persisted

for a shorter period of time than the national/inland contraventions.

Order

 

173. Given the above,in relation to the Western Cape we orderasfollows:

173.1. During December 2006, Pioneer, Premier and Tiger Brands, contravened

section 4(1)(b)(i) and (ii) of the Competition Act in that they agreed that -

473.1.1. They increase the discounted price of toaster bread on 5 February

2007to realise R4.25 perloaf including tax;

173.1.2. They increase the price of the standard loaf of bread by 35c per loaf

from 18 December 2006;

173.1.3. The dates by which the breadprice increases were to be implemented

would be staggered so as not to be implemented onthe samedate;

173.14. Discounts (commissions) givenbyall three firms to agents in the Paar!

area would be capped at 90c and 75cfor agents in the Cape Peninsula;

173.1.5. Noneofthe firms would supply new distributors;

173.1.6. Noneofthe firms would supply each other’s former employees; and

173.1.7. None of the firms would make bread deliveries on 25 and 26

December 2006.

 

173.2, To the extent that any of the agreements or conductreferred to in 173.1

abovestill persist, Pioneer is hereby ordered to immediately cease and desist

therewith; and
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173.3. Pioneer is ordered to pay an administrative penalty of 9.5% of Sasko's 2006

bread turnover for the Western Cape which amounts to R 46 019 954 (forty six

million, nineteen thousand, nine hundred andfifty four rand). The penalty

must be paid to the Commission within 20 business days of the date of this order.

174. in relation to the national/inland complaint we order as follows:

174.1. Premier, Tiger Brands, Pioneer and Foodcorp contravened section 4(1)(b){i)

and(ii) of the Competition Actin that —

174.1.1. During 1999 they concluded an agreement, or engagedin a concerted

practice in terms of which they divided markets amongst themselves in the

South Gauteng, Free State, North West and Mpumalangaregions,

 

174.1.2. Between 2003 and 2004they-

174.1.2.1. fixed the selling price of bread and the dates by whichthe said prices

were to be implemented;

174.1.2.2. entered into a “gentlemen’s agreement” in terms of which they

resolved that during the period of bread price increases, they would not

allow customers to switch suppliers in order to benefit from any differences

i in the prices provided by each supplier;

174.1.2.3. agreed not to poach one another's customers;

174.1.3. During July 2006, Pioneer, Premier and Tiger Brands agreedto fix

trading conditions in that they agreed not to compete on price in the

Vanderbijlpark area; and

174.1.4. During the last week of November 2006, Pioneer, Premier and Tiger

Brands,fixed the selling price of bread by agreeing to increase the said price by

30cperloaf in Gauteng with effect from 18 December 2006.

174.2. To the extent that any of the agreements or conduct referred to in 174.1

 

above still persist, Pioneer is hereby ordered to immediately cease and desist

therewith; and

54 959% of R484 420 572, being the Western Cape turnoverin par 9.4 of Goosen’s witness statement
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174.3. Pioneer is ordered to pay an administrative penalty of 10% of Sasko’s 2006

national bread turnoverless that of the Western Cape, °° which amounts to R 149

698 660 (one hundred and forty nine million, six hundred and ninety eight

thousand, six hundred and sixty rand). The penalty must be paid to the

Commission within 20 business daysof the date of this order.

175. Accordingly the total penalty imposed on Pioneer Foods (Pty) Ltd in respect of both

complaints is R195 718 614 (one hundred and ninety five million, seven hundred

and eighteen thousand, six hundred and fourteen rand).°

Cac
Y Carrim and D Lewis Date

  3 February 2010

Concurring: N Manoim

Researcher: Rietsie Badenhorst

For the Commission: Adv D N Unterhalter SC with Horace Shozi, instructed by Cheadle

Thompson & Haysom Inc

For Pioneer: Adv J A Newdigate SC with E W Fagan SC,instructed by Cliffe

Dekker Hofmeyr Inc

Being 10% of (Ri 981 407 170 — R484 420 572) = 10% of R 1 496 986 598. See par 9.4 of Goosen’s witness

statement.

6 The amountis roundedoff.
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